
Mark Saccoccio 
Town Clerk 

  01525 631920
   info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

Council Chamber, The White House, Hockcliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 1HD.

Friday, 6 April 2018

To:  Members of the Policy & Finance Committee (Councillors E Wallace, S Jones, 
R Berry, S Cotter, K Cursons, S Cursons, A Dodwell, K Ferguson, M Freeman, 
F Kharawala, C Palmer and G Perham)
(Copies to all Town Councillors for information)

NOTICE OF MEETING

You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of Policy & Finance Committee to be 
held on Monday, 16 April 2018 commencing at 7.30 pm in the Council Chamber, The 
White House, Hockcliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 
1HD.. 

M Saccoccio 
Town Clerk

AGENDA

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a record be kept of 
the Members present and that this record form part of the minutes of the 
meeting. Members who cannot attend a meeting should tender apologies to 
the Town Clerk.

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

i) Under the Localism Act 2011 (sections 26-37 and Schedule 4) and in 
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Members are required to 
declare any interests which are not currently entered in the Member’s 
Register of Interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of 
it. 

(ii) Should any Member have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in an item on 
the agenda, the Member may not participate in consideration of that item 
unless a Dispensation has first been requested (in writing) and granted 
by the Council (see Dispensation Procedure).

3.  QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC (3 MINUTES PER PERSON; MAXIMUM 
15 MINUTES) 

To receive questions and statements from members of the public in respect 
of any item of business included in the agenda, as provided for in Standing 

THIS MEETING MAY 
BE RECORDED *

Public Document Pack

mailto:info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/


POLICY & FINANCE COMMITTEE Monday, 16 April 2018

Order No.s 1(f) and 1(h).

4.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 6)

To receive and approve as a correct record the minutes of the Policy & 
Finance Committee meeting held on 26 February 2018. 

5.  MINUTES OF SUB COMMITTEE MEETINGS (Pages 7 - 12)

To receive the draft minutes of the following Sub-Committee meetings and to 
consider the recommendation/s contained therein:  

(a) Personnel Sub-Committee 26 March 2018 
(b) Police Liaison Sub-Committee 9 April 2018 

6.  COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN (Pages 13 - 20)

(a) To receive and note progress with the Committee objectives and work 
plan for 2017-2018 
(b) To receive and consider a draft Committee work plan for 2018-2019 

7.  CHRISTMAS FESTIVAL 

To consider the recommendation made by the Cultural and Economic 
Services Committee on 10 January 2018 (minute ref 071/CE): that £2000 be 
allocated from the Community Projects Earmarked Reserves to cover 
any shortfall in expected income for the Christmas Festival, to ensure 
the quality standard of the event would be maintained.

8.  FEBRUARY AND MARCH 2018 PAYMENTS (Pages 21 - 62)

To receive and note the schedule of payments made in February 2018 
(attached) and March 2018 (to follow) (approved for payment by the Town 
Clerk and two bank signatories).

9.  INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT (FIRST INTERIM) (Pages 63 - 70)

To receive the internal audit report for 2017-2018 (first interim) (attached).  

10.  BUDGET MONITORING REPORT (Pages 71 - 84)

To receive and consider a budget monitoring report for the financial year 1 
April 2017 – 31 March 2018 (to follow).

11.  ARRANGEMENTS WITH LOCAL AUTHORITIES (Pages 85 - 86)

To receive and note a report confirming arrangements with local authorities 
(attached).



POLICY & FINANCE COMMITTEE Monday, 16 April 2018

12.  TOWN COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 (Pages 87 - 122)

To receive and consider recommending to Council approval of the draft Town 
Council Annual Report for the municipal year 2017-2018 (subject to financial 
data being included following the close of the financial year) (attached).

13.  REVIEW OF FINANCE PROCEDURES AND SYSTEM OF INTERNAL 
CONTROL (Pages 123 - 142)

To receive a report (attached) regarding financial procedures and the system 
of internal control and to consider the recommendations contained therein. 

14.  ONLINE PAYMENTS, BOOKINGS AND TICKETING (Pages 143 - 146)

To receive an update report in respect of online payments, bookings and 
ticketing (attached).

15.  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

The Committee may consider it appropriate to consider the following 
resolution should they consider that any discussion would be prejudicial to 
the public interests: that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to 
Meetings) Act 1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the 
confidential nature of the business about to be transacted which 
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information. The public and 
press to withdraw from the meeting during consideration of detailed 
discussion regarding the following items:

16.  GENERAL DATA PROTECTION REGULATION (Pages 147 - 154)

17.  TOWN COUNCIL ACCOMMODATION 

18.  COMMUNITY SAFETY (OPERATION DODFORD AND CCTV) (Pages 155 - 
158)

* Phones and other equipment may be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog from this meeting by an individual Council member, 
officer or member of the public.  No part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves to go into 
exempt session.  The use of images or recordings arising from this is not within the Council’s control.



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 130

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

POLICY AND FINANCE COMMITTEE

26 FEBRUARY 2018 AT 1930 HOURS

Present:  Councillors: R Berry
S Cotter
A Dodwell 
K Ferguson
J M Freeman
S Jones – in the Chair
K Cursons
S Cursons (arrived at 1950 hours)
C Palmer
T Morris (substituting for G Perham)

Also in attendance: M Saccoccio (Town Clerk)
S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central 
Services)
A Holden (Senior Administrative Officer)
M Jahn (Committee Officer) 

Members of the public: 0

322/PF APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor E Wallace, Councillor 
F Kharawala and Councillor G Perham (substituted by Councillor T Morris).

323/PF DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this 
meeting. No declarations were made.

324/PF QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC

There were no questions from members of the public. 

325/PF MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

The Committee received the minutes of the Policy and Finance Committee 
meeting held on 15 January 2018 for consideration.

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Policy and Finance Committee 
meeting held on 15 January 2018 be approved as a correct record and 
signed accordingly. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Policy and Finance Committee 26 FEBRUARY 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 131

326/PF COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN

The Committee received the Work Plan and objectives for 2017-2018. A 
question was raised regarding the progress of on-line bookings/payments 
and e-ticketing.  The Committee was advised that on-line bookings would 
be difficult to implement because of the variation of facilities offered in the 
different sites and buildings, meaning that an element of human 
intervention was needed in considering the most appropriate site, room or 
pitch for a booking.  However, it remained the intention to trial e-ticketing in 
certain circumstances.

RESOLVED to note the Committee Objectives and Work Plan for 2017-
2018. 

327/PF JANUARY PAYMENTS 2018

The Committee received one set of schedule of payments which had 
previously been approved for payment by the Town Clerk and 
countersigned by two account signatories.          

The schedule for January  dated 9 February 2018  included BACS 
payments amounting to £116,556.36  (page numbers 2276 - 2287) and 
cheque payments amounting to £2,368.23 (cheque numbers 17142-
17151), including White House petty cash amounting to £71.66, Astral Park 
£160.32.

The monthly salaries listing for January 2018 amounting to £93,389.27 
gross was received.  A cash book report for January 2018, including details 
of all direct debit payments, was also received.

RESOLVED to note the schedules of accounts for January 2018.

It was noted that all payments had been made within the budget and that 
there were no irregularities to be drawn to the attention of the Committee. 

328/PF TOWN COUNCIL MEMBERSHIPS

The Committee received a list advising of all current memberships of other 
bodies, for the Town Council and/or employees. 

RESOLVED to note the report.

329/PF     COMMUNICATIONS UPDATE

The Committee received a report and work plan in respect of 
communications, including the Town Council website, social media 
channels and overall communications strategy. 

Page 2



Policy and Finance Committee 26 FEBRUARY 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 132

A question was raised about the number of copies of the About Town which 
were printed each time and whether they were all distributed.  It was 
confirmed that 2,000 copies were printed and a further 700 viewed on-line 
for each publication.  It was suggested that seeking more advertising 
income might allow further pages to be printed and therefore help in 
ensuring enough space to support the promotion of local events or 
organisations. This would be given consideration but it was noted that a 
balance was to be achieved between the amount of paid advertising, the 
amount of promotion of other organisations and ensuring enough focus on 
key Town Council communications and messages.

RESOLVED to note the report.
 

330/PF COMMUNITY EMERGENCY PLAN UPDATE

The Committee received a verbal update in respect of the proposed 
Community Emergency Plan.  Following some initial work by the volunteer 
co-ordinator for the Plan and officers, it was intended that an open evening 
be held in early May, to which representatives of key local organisations 
would be invited, as well as any interested members of the public. A 
Steering Group would then be formed to take the Plan forward by finalising 
the content, seeking Committee endorsement and setting up ongoing 
communication channels.  

RESOLVED to note the information.

331/PF     COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY

The Committee received and considered a report and draft revised 
Community Engagement Strategy.  It was noted that the existing document 
was out of date and required revision to ensure that an up to date and fit for 
purpose policy was in place in respect of community engagement.

RESOLVED to -

1.1 note the report.
1.2 endorse that a period of public consultation be commenced in 

respect of the draft revised Community Engagement Strategy.

332/PF DATA PROTECTION UPDATE

The Committee received a verbal update in respect of General Data 
Protection Regulation. An information pack had been sent out to all 
Councillors, staff training would continue over the next two weeks and 
policies would continue to be updated and older documents disposed of.  
The appointment of a Data Protection Officer would come back to 
Committee for discussion in April.

RESOLVED to note the information.

Page 3



Policy and Finance Committee 26 FEBRUARY 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 133

333/PF MARKET TOWN REGENERATION PROJECT UPDATE

The Committee received a brief verbal update on the projects currently 
underway and part funded by the grant funding received as part of Central 
Bedfordshire Council’s Market Towns Regeneration Fund. A verbal update 
was also provided in respect of the High Street Improvement Scheme, 
electronic signage, architectural lighting and the market redevelopment. 

RESOLVED to note the information. 

334/PF CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2018-2019

The Committee received a draft Calendar of Meetings for the municipal 
year 2018-2019 for consideration, based on the committee structure and 
meeting frequency approved by Council in June 2016. It was clarified that 
additional, provisional dates for the Cultural & Economic Services 
Committee had been included in order that any grant applications for the 
Youth Promise grant could be considered, but the meetings would not 
otherwise take place. 

RECOMMENDED to Council to approve the proposed Calendar of 
Meetings for the municipal year 2018-2019 (see Appendix A). 

335/PF EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

RESOLVED that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) 
Act 1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential 
nature of the business about to be transacted which involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information.  The public and press to withdraw 
from the meeting during consideration of detailed discussion 
regarding: (a) Town Council premises.

336/PF   TOWN COUNCIL PREMISES

The Committee received a verbal update on the Town Council premises 
informing them that the appointed Estate Surveyor is still in negotiations 
with the Landlord to challenge the proposed rent increase.

The meeting closed at 2037 hours.   

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 26 FEBRUARY 2018.

Chair   16 APRIL 2018.

Page 4



Policy and Finance Committee 26 FEBRUARY 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 134

APPENDIX A

Calendar of Meetings 2018-2019
All meetings are held in The White House and commence at 1930 hours, unless 

otherwise stated

May 2018 
Mon 07 BANK HOLIDAY
Wed 09 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 14 Grants & Awards Sub Committee
Thur 17 Market Sub Committee (1030)
Mon 21 COUNCIL ANNUAL MEETING

(Astral Park)
Mon 28 BANK HOLIDAY
Wed 30 Planning & Transport Committee

June 2018
Mon 04 Grounds & Environmental Services 

Committee
Thur 07 Partnership Committee
Mon 11 Cultural & Economic Services

Committee
Mon 18 Policy & Finance Committee 
Wed 20 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 25 COUNCIL

July 2018
Mon 02 Personnel Sub-Committee
Wed 11 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 16 Police Liaison Sub-Committee
Mon 23 Cultural & Economic Services 

Committee (provisional)
Mon 30 Policy & Finance Committee

August 2018
Wed 01 Planning & Transport Committee
Thur 16 Market Sub-Committee (1030)
Wed 22 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 27 BANK HOLIDAY

September 2018
Mon 03 Cultural & Economic Services 

Committee
Thur 06 Partnership Committee
Mon 10 Grounds & Environmental Services

Committee
Wed 12 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 17 Policy & Finance Committee
Mon 24 COUNCIL

October 2018
Wed 03 Planning & Transport Committee 
Mon 08 Personnel Sub-Committee  
Mon 15 Cultural & Economic Committee 

(provisional)
Mon 22 Police Liaison Sub-Committee
Wed 24 Planning & Transport Committee

Page 5



Policy and Finance Committee 26 FEBRUARY 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 135

November 2018 
Mon 05 Grants & Awards Sub-Committee
Wed 14 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 19 Policy & Finance Committee
Thur 22 Market Sub-Committee (1030)
Thur 29 Partnership Committee

December 2018
Mon 03 Grounds & Environmental Services 

Committee
Mon 10 Cultural & Economic Services

Committee
Wed 12 Planning & Transport Committee

January 2019
Mon      07 Personnel Sub-Committee
Wed 09 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 14 Police Liaison Sub-Committee 
Mon 21 Policy & Finance Committee
Mon 28 COUNCIL
Wed 30 Planning & Transport Committee

February 2019
Thur 07 Partnership Committee
Wed 20 Planning & Transport Committee
Thur 21 Market Sub-Committee (1030)
Mon 25 Policy & Finance Committee

March 2019
Mon 04 Grounds & Environmental Services 

Committee
Mon 11 Cultural & Economic Services

Committee
Wed 13 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 18 PARISH MEETING 
Mon 25 Personnel Sub-Committee 

April 2019
Mon 01 Police Liaison Sub-Committee
Wed 03 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 08 Grants & Awards Sub-Committee
Thur 11 Partnership Committee
Mon 15 Policy & Finance Committee
Mon 22 BANK HOLIDAY
Mon 29 COUNCIL

May 2019
Wed 01 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 06 BANK HOLIDAY
Mon 20 COUNCIL ANNUAL MEETING

(Astral Park)
Mon 27 BANK HOLIDAY
Wed 29 Planning & Transport Committee
Thur 30 Market Sub-Committee (1030)

Page 6



Item no 5 (a)

Page 45

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

PERSONNEL SUB-COMMITTEE

MONDAY 26 MARCH 2018 AT 1930 HOURS

Present: Councillors: K Cursons
                                                      C Palmer

D Bowater – in the Chair
K Ferguson
J M Freeman

Other: M Saccoccio (Town Clerk) 
S Sandiford (Head of Democratic & Central 
Services)

Members of the public: 0

130/PR APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor E Wallace. 
In the absence of the Chair, Vice Chair Councillor D Bowater presided. 

131/PR DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of 
those interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration 
at this meeting. No declarations were made. 

132/PR QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC

No members of the public were present. 

133/PR MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

The minutes of the Personnel Sub-Committee meeting held on 8 
January 2018 were received.  

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Personnel Sub-Committee 
meeting held on 8 January 2018 be approved as a correct record 
and were signed accordingly.  

134/PR HUMAN RESOURCES SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT

The Sub-Committee received a six monthly report (October 2017 – 
March 2018) outlining the different elements of Human Resources 
support delivered by the retained HR provider. The service received 
had continued to be exemplary and a great source of support to 
management. 

RESOLVED to note the report.

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



Personnel Sub-Committee                                                       26 MARCH 2018     

Page 46

135/PR EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAMME

The Sub-Committee received a verbal update in respect of the usage 
of the Employee Assistance Programme by staff during the first year 
of its two year contract period. 

The Sub-Committee was reminded that a change in operating 
procedures meant that the provider no longer gave detailed usage 
information for smaller organisations, to reduce the likelihood of being 
able to identify individuals. However, it was felt that more information 
would be useful and agreed to approach the provider again. 

RESOLVED to note the information. 

136/PR EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

The Sub-Committee considered that any further discussion regarding 
staffing matters would be prejudicial to the public interests.

RESOLVED that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to 
Meetings) Act 1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the 
confidential nature of the business about to be transacted which 
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information.  The public 
and press to withdraw from the meeting during consideration of 
detailed discussion regarding staffing matters.

137/PR STAFFING MATTERS

The Sub-Committee received a verbal update in respect of three 
current Human Resources issues and the procedures being followed, 
on the advice of the retained HR provider. It was noted that the 
procedures were often time consuming to follow and that, as the 
management team was relatively small, this did at times have an 
impact on workload. However, it was agreed that adhering to the 
professional advice received from our HR provider was essential in 
ensuring compliance with policies and legislation. 

RESOLVED to note the information. 

The meeting closed at 2010 hours.

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 26 MARCH 2018. 

CHAIR                                                                               2 JULY 2018             

Page 8



Page 35

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

POLICE LIAISON SUB-COMMITTEE

MONDAY 9 APRIL 2018 AT 1930 HOURS

Present    : Councillors R Berry 
A Dodwell
J M Freeman
T Morris – in the Chair

                                          A Brandham (substituting for C Chambers)
C Palmer (substituting for B Spurr)
C Perham
G Perham

                      Also in attendance:     M Saccocio, Town Clerk
S Sandiford (Head of Democratic & Central 
Services)
S Jewell (Best Bar None Co-ordinator)
Inspector C Gurr (Bedfordshire Police)
PCSO E Weedon (Bedfordshire Police)
Sgt L Mitchell (Bedfordshire Police)

           Members of the Public: 10

087/PL APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor C Chambers 
(substituted by Councillor A Brandham) and from Councillor B Spurr (substituted 
by Councillor C Palmer). 

088/PL DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this meeting.  
No declarations were made and no dispensations had been requested. 

089/PL PUBLIC QUESTIONS

Members of the public and representatives of the local Shop Watch and Pub 
Watch schemes spoke to express concerns about local crime and the lack of 
police resources available to attend incidents, either at the time of the event or 
thereafter to take statements. Concerns were expressed about the finite police 
resources in the local area, particularly overnight, and the difficulty of being able 
to make reports to the police via the non emergency 101 number but also the 
emergency 999 number.  

A concern regarding an increase in knife crime was raised and this was agreed 
by Bedfordshire Police officers to be the case, both across the county and at a 
national level.

Shop Watch representatives raised a concern that the analogue radios used for 
flagging up issues to the CCTV control room might not be useable in future, 

Page 9



Police Liaison Sub-Committee 9 April 2018    
                                                                                                                                                                         

Page 32

should Central Bedfordshire Council proceed with a move to a digital CCTV 
system. It was agreed to seek clarification from Central Bedfordshire Council on 
this, but understood that the timescale for any changes to the CCTV system was 
medium term and unlikely to take place within the next couple of years.  

Shop Watch representatives requested whether Bedfordshire Police officers 
could attend their next scheduled meeting. It was agreed that officers would 
attend if at all possible given operational constraints. 

A query was raised regarding the £40,000 annual budget set by the Town 
Council for community safety. This had historically been predominantly delivered 
through the Operation Dodford service level agreement with Bedfordshire Police 
and included a focus on market day patrols, when the town centre had been at 
its busiest. The question was asked as to whether funds were being used in the 
most effective manner. 

090/PL MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

The Sub-Committee received the draft minutes of the Police Liaison Sub-
Committee meeting held on 8 January 2018. 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Police Liaison Sub-Committee meeting 
held on 8 January 2018 be approved as a correct record and signed 
accordingly.

091/PL BEST BAR NONE

The Best Bar None Co-Ordinator for Leighton-Linslade, Dunstable and 
Houghton Regis attended the meeting to provide a verbal update in respect of 
the scheme, which aimed to work with licensed premises to implement best 
practice initiatives and enhance safety for customers. Ten venues in the parish 
had achieved accreditation and the next step was the “People’s Vote”, which 
would be publicised via a number of mechanisms including social media. A 
presentation evening would be taking place on 4 June. 

It was noted that there was a healthy Pub Watch scheme running in Leighton 
Buzzard and Linslade and that although this was run on an entirely separate and 
independent basis, it was intrinsically linked with the Best Bar None project and 
the Best Bar None Co-ordinator was invited to attend Pub Watch meetings. 

092/PL BEDFORDSHIRE POLICE REPORT: OPERATION DODFORD

The Sub-Committee received a report from Bedfordshire Police on crime and 
antisocial behaviour for January - March 2018, as compared to the previous year 
and as a ratio per head of population compared with other local towns.  For both 
crimes and antisocial behaviour incidents, there were increases in some 
categories but reductions in others, compared to the same period in 2017. 
Incidents of note relating to market day patrols and the night time economy were 
highlighted. 

Page 10



Police Liaison Sub-Committee 9 April 2018    
                                                                                                                                                                         

Page 33

Clarification was given that although community safety teams were not in 
operation after 10pm, police response teams were operational throughout the 
night and would be assigned jobs by the police control room based on their 
assessment of potential risk or harm. 

Committee members raised queries regarding specific locations of concern for 
antisocial behaviour. An “Operation Vision” exercise had recently taken place in 
the south of the town and it was hoped that this could be repeated later in the 
year. “Operation Night Owl” had been established since January 2018 to provide 
a dedicated response to the night time economy, with one van covering 
Leighton-Linslade, Dunstable and Luton. 

It was noted that residents often expressed concerns or frustrations on social 
media but did not actually report these matters officially to the police. Police 
officers reminded those present that reports could also be submitted online as 
well as via the 101 telephone number. 

Concerns were expressed regarding drugs issues, with various paraphernalia 
being uncovered during recent litter picking activity. Drugs had been set as a 
local priority and the police confirmed this meant that more resources could be 
dedicated to it, with intelligence officers targeting the most serious offences 
(relating to class A drugs) as first priority. 

Further concerns were expressed in relation to ongoing antisocial behaviour by 
young people in the town centre. Feedback from residents indicated that people 
felt intimidated and unsafe and might therefore be deterred from visiting the town 
centre. It was confirmed that a lot of work continued to be done in respect of 
these issues, including gathering of evidence in order to progress through the 
system by way of issuing “acceptable behaviour contracts”, warnings and 
ultimately injunctions to ban known offenders from specific locations. It was 
further confirmed that much pro-active work was being done with young people 
including liaison with schools and parents. 

RESOLVED to note the information.

A new Service Level Agreement for Operation Dodford for 2018-19 had yet to 
be received and was currently under consideration by Bedfordshire Police 
following recent case law. The Sub-Committee was therefore unable to make 
any specific recommendation to the Policy and Finance Committee in this 
respect. It was instead agreed that Insp.Gurr would consider whether there were 
any areas in which the Town Council could help to financially support 
Bedfordshire Police in preventing or addressing local crime and antisocial 
behaviour issues and if so, to discuss these further with the Town Clerk. 

093/PL “WATCH” SCHEMES UPDATE

The Sub-Committee received a report in respect of the local Street Watch and 
Speed Watch schemes, including patrols undertaken. Feedback to scheme 
members from local residents was positive.  

RESOLVED to note the report.   

Page 11



Police Liaison Sub-Committee 9 April 2018    
                                                                                                                                                                         

Page 34

094/PL CLOSED CIRCUIT TELEVISION

The Sub-Committee received a report of recorded CCTV incidents in Leighton 
Buzzard from 1 January – 31 March 2018. It was noted that the number of 
arrests stated in the report was based solely on the information captured by the 
CCTV and did not reflect any action taken by the police following the captured 
incidents or where the incidents formed part of a wider investigation. 

RESOLVED to note the report.

The meeting closed at 20:57 hours.

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE RECORD 
OF THE MEETING HELD ON 9 APRIL 2018.

Chair  16 JULY 2018 

Page 12



Agenda Item No. 6a

Page 1 of 4

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL
POLICY AND FINANCE COMMITTEE – 16 APRIL 2018

WORK PLAN 2017-2018 (INCORPORATING OBJECTIVES 2015-2018)

Policy & Finance Strategic Objectives for 2015-2018 (from Town Council Three Year Plan)

Objective 
ref.no. (3 
Yr Plan)

Objective Timescale Comments

1 Review options related to the future premises to house 
the Town Council and secure accommodation. 

31st March 2017 Depot Accommodation:- Short terms strategy 
agreed
Negotiations ongoing in respects of Town Council 
accommodation.   

8 Investigate and develop online payments and bookings 
for all Council services.

Payments – 31st March 
2017
Bookings – phased 
approach until 31st 
March 2018 

Town Council is accepting online payments via 
WorldPay.
Agreed that online bookings are not currently a 
viable option but intention is to trial online 
ticketing.   

15 Expand and consolidate opportunities for two-way 
dialogue with residents and ensure greater community 
engagement in, and awareness of, Town Council 
activity.

Annual & ongoing Website revisions, About Town delivered in July to 
all households, increased social media presence 
(number of posts and number of followers). 
Development of promotional short videos.

15 (a) Creation and adoption of website development plan January 2018
Deferred until 2018-19

Websites to be reviewed in full during 2018-19, 
following appointment of a support provider. 
Proposals for future development to be brought to 
committee before end of 2018. 

15 (b) Creation and adoption of communications strategy November 2017 Nov 2017 update: now split into two documents, 
an internal Communications protocol and an 
external Community Engagement/Consultation 
Strategy. Consultation underway on draft revised 
Engagement Strategy.

15 (c) Social media development Launch of App summer 2017. Launch of 
Instagram account. COMPLETED 

Paperless meetings 31st March 2018
System likely to be live 
in April/May 2018. 

Recommendation to adopt Mod.gov software.
One year trial period prior to new Council in 2019

Policies: review/update/develop Home working 
protocol, Business continuity plans for Astral Park and April 2018

Home working protocol established Oct 2017.
Business continuity plans being 

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 6



Agenda Item No. 6a

Page 2 of 4

TACTIC, Community Emergency Plan developed/updated.
Awaiting input from external volunteer consultant 
in respect of Emergency Plan. 

Data Protection: review procedures and amend as 
required to comply with General Data Protection 
Regulations (effective May 2018)

April 2018 
Significant progress made incl staff training, 
review of IT security, development of policies and 
procedures. 

I.T. infrastructure: develop clear timescales for 
hardware & software upgrades, server replacement, 
review of storage and network arrangements

September 2018
New server installed, back up solution under 
review, new hardware ordered, network switches 
upgraded.  

Budget process for 2018-19 January 2018 COMPLETED. 
Community safety: review effectiveness of current 
expenditure and options for alternative measures

March 2018 Through the Police Liaison Sub Committee

Asset Register: review and transfer onto new software 31 March 2018 July 
2018

Deferred to July due to workload

Financial Regulations: review Sept 2017 April 2018 Financial regulations & sector accountability 
documents reviewed, action list compiled. Report 
to committee in April 2018.  

5 Review potential of achieving Investors in People and 
ISO accreditation.

April 2017 COMPLETED. Report to Committee February 
2017. No further action at this time. 

17 Review Big Plan II (in conjunction with other 
committees)

31st March 2016 COMPLETED. Report approved by Council 
January 2016.  Ongoing tasks incorporated into 
Three Year Plan.  

23 Review and update the Market Development and 
Business Plan

By end 2015 COMPLETED – presented to committee in May 
2016. 

3 Review and update contracts of employment. By December 2015 COMPLETED

4 Update Staff Handbook to include all staffing related 
policies under one publication.

By December 2015 COMPLETED

2 Accreditation under the new Local Council Award 
Scheme.

Quality standard 2015;
Gold standard 2016

COMPLETED. Gold accreditation secured for 4 
years.  

6 Review the procedures, protocols and expenses 
related to the civic position of Town Mayor.

1st April 2016 COMPLETED. Mayoral Allowances policy adopted 
January 2016; revised Mayoral Protocol adopted 
January 2017.  

P
age 14



Agenda Item No. 6a

Page 3 of 4

WORK PLAN 2017-2018

Meeting Date Regular Updates Work Plan 2017-2018
19 June 2017 Town Mayor’s Accounts 2016-2017

Annual accounts and governance statement
Asset register/review of inventory deferred to July

31 July 2017 3-month budget 
monitoring

Approval of budget timeline for 2018-19 budget 
Insurance claims 2016-17
Online payments and bookings update initial discussion held; deferred to Feb 2018
I.T. update 
Asset register/review of inventory
Community Emergency Plan

18 September 2017 Communications 
update

Review priority projects for inclusion in 2018-19 budget
External auditor’s report for 2016-17
Business Risk action plan update
GDPR: data protection update
Financial Regulations reviewed – no changes required at this time

20 November 2017 6-month budget 
monitoring
5 year financial plan

Review priority projects for inclusion in 2018-19 budget
Review of salary budget for 2018-19
White House refurbishment/redecoration programme pending lease renewal
Paperless meetings: review of options
Draft communications strategy following initial work, will now be two documents, an internal 
Communications protocol and a revision of the Community Engagement Strategy

15 January 2018 9-month budget 
monitoring

Recommend to Council the budget and precept for 2018-2019 
Consider Honorary Burgess 2018 nomination/s
Business Risk Register & Action Plan for 2018-2019
Website development plan and hosting/support provider review
Community safety – recommendations from Police Liaison Sub Committee

26 February 2018 Communications 
update

Draft Calendar of Meetings 2018-2019
Review Town Council/employee memberships
Market Towns Regeneration Fund projects update
GDPR: data protection update
Revised Community Engagement Strategy
Community Emergency Plan update

P
age 15



Agenda Item No. 6a

Page 4 of 4

16 April 2018

 

12-month budget 
monitoring report

Annual Report 2017-2018
Review of Committee Objectives 2017-18; Setting provisional Committee Objectives 2018-19
Review arrangements with local authorities.
Asset Register deferred to July 2018
Update regarding online bookings/payments/e-ticketing

P
age 16



Agenda Item No. 6 (b)

Page 1 of 3

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL
POLICY AND FINANCE COMMITTEE – 16 APRIL 2018

WORK PLAN 2018-2019 (INCORPORATING OBJECTIVES 2015-2018)

Policy & Finance Strategic Objectives for 2015-2018 (from Town Council Three Year Plan)

Objective 
ref.no. (3 
Yr Plan)

Objective Timescale Comments

1 Review options related to the future premises to house 
the Town Council and secure accommodation. 

31st March 2017 Depot Accommodation:- Short terms strategy 
agreed
Negotiations ongoing in respects of Town Council 
accommodation.   

8 Investigate and develop online payments and bookings 
for all Council services.

Payments – 31st March 
2017
Bookings – phased 
approach until 31st 
March 2018 

Town Council is accepting online payments via 
WorldPay.
Agreed that online bookings are not currently a 
viable option but intention is to trial online 
ticketing.   

15 Expand and consolidate opportunities for two-way 
dialogue with residents and ensure greater community 
engagement in, and awareness of, Town Council 
activity.

Annual & ongoing Website revisions, About Town delivered in July to 
all households, increased social media presence 
(number of posts and number of followers). 
Development of promotional short videos.

15 (a) Creation and adoption of website development plan January 2018
Deferred until 2018-19

Websites to be reviewed in full during 2018-19, 
following appointment of a support provider. 
Proposals for future development to be brought to 
committee before end of 2018. 

15 (b) Creation and adoption of communications strategy November 2017 Nov 2017 update: now split into two documents, 
an internal Communications protocol and an 
external Community Engagement/Consultation 
Strategy. Consultation underway on draft revised 
Engagement Strategy.

Policies: review/update/develop Home working 
protocol, Business continuity plans for Astral Park and 
TACTIC, Community Emergency Plan

April 2018
Home working protocol established Oct 2017.
Business continuity plans being 
developed/updated.
Awaiting input from external volunteer consultant 
in respect of Emergency Plan. 

Data Protection: review procedures and amend as 
required to comply with General Data Protection April 2018 

Significant progress made incl staff training, 
review of IT security, development of policies and 

P
age 17



Agenda Item No. 6 (b)

Page 2 of 3

Regulations (effective May 2018) procedures. 
I.T. infrastructure: develop clear timescales for 
hardware & software upgrades, server replacement, 
review of storage and network arrangements

September 2018
New server installed, back up solution under 
review, new hardware ordered, network switches 
upgraded.  Email move to Office 365 to take place.

Budget process for 2019-20 January 2019  
Community safety: review effectiveness of current 
expenditure and options for alternative measures

January 2019 Through the Police Liaison Sub Committee

 Objectives 2,3,4,5,6,17 & 23 from Three Year Plan completed and removed from work plan. 

WORK PLAN 2018-2019

Meeting Date Regular Updates Work Plan 2018-2019
18 June 2018 Town Mayor’s Accounts 2017-2018

Annual accounts and governance statement
Revised Community Engagement Strategy

30 July 2018 3-month budget 
monitoring

Approval of budget timeline for 2019-20 budget 
Insurance claims 2017-18
Community Emergency Plan
Data protection update
Asset register

17 September 2018 Communications 
update

Review priority projects for inclusion in 2019-20 budget
External auditor’s report for 2017-18
Business Risk action plan update
Modern.gov: review of first three months
Mayoral review including e-ticketing and budgets

19 November 2018 6-month budget 
monitoring
5 year financial plan

Review priority projects for inclusion in 2019-2020 budget
Review of salary budget for 2019-20
Website development plan and hosting/support provider review
I.T. review and budget recommendations

21 January 2019 9-month budget 
monitoring

Recommend to Council the budget and precept for 2019-2020 
Consider Honorary Burgess 2019 nomination/s
Business Risk Register & Action Plan for 2019-2020
Recommendations from Police Liaison in respect of Community Safety 

P
age 18



Agenda Item No. 6 (b)

Page 3 of 3

25 February 2019 Communications 
update

Draft Calendar of Meetings 2019-2020
Review Town Council/employee memberships
Annual review of Financial regulations, Standing Orders and System of internal control
Modern.gov review

15 April 2019

 

12-month budget 
monitoring report

Annual Report 2018-2019
Review of Committee Objectives 2018-19; Setting provisional Committee Objectives 2019-
2020
Review arrangements with local authorities.

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 21

Agenda Item 8



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Agenda item no 9

Leighton-Linslade Town Council

Internal Audit Report 2017-18: Interim Update

Adrian Shepherd-Roberts

For Auditing Solutions Ltd

Page 63

Agenda Item 9



2

This report has been prepared for the sole use of Leighton-Linslade Town Council. To the fullest extent permitted by law, no 
responsibility or liability is accepted by Auditing Solutions Ltd to any third party who purports to use or rely, for any reason 
whatsoever, on this report, its contents or conclusions.

Background
All town and parish councils are required by statute to make arrangements for an independent 
internal audit examination of their accounting records and system of internal control and for 
the conclusions to be reported each year in the Annual Return. Auditing Solutions Ltd has 
provided this service to Leighton-Linslade Town Council since 2007.

This report sets out the work undertaken in relation to the 2017-18 financial year, which took 
place on 26th / 27th October 2017 and 20th March 2018 together with the matters arising and 
recommendations for action, where appropriate. 

Internal Audit Approach 

In undertaking our review for the year to date, we have had regard to the materiality of 
transactions and their susceptibility to potential mis-recording or misrepresentation in the 
year-end Statement of Accounts/Annual Return. We have employed a combination of 
selective sampling techniques (where appropriate) and 100% detailed checks in a number of 
key areas in order to gain sufficient assurance that the Council’s financial and regulatory 
systems and controls are appropriate and fit for the purposes intended.

Our programme of cover has been designed to afford appropriate assurance that the Council’s 
financial systems are robust and operate in a manner to ensure effective probity of 
transactions and to afford a reasonable probability of identifying any material errors or 
possible abuse of the Council’s own and the national statutory regulatory framework. The 
programme is also designed to facilitate our completion of the ‘Annual Internal Audit Report’ 
in the Council’s Annual Return, which requires independent assurance over a number of 
internal control objectives. 

Overall Conclusion 

We are pleased to conclude that, in the areas examined to date, the Council continues to have 
effective systems in place to help ensure that transactions are free from material misstatement 
and will be reported accurately in the Annual Return and detailed Statement of Accounts for 
the financial year.

We are also pleased to record that Council members and officers continue to operate a sound, 
pro-active approach to risk management and corporate governance issues, together with the 
development and management of effective internal controls and procedural documentation.

Page 64



3

Leighton Linslade TC: 2017-18 
Interim update

20-3-18 Auditing Solutions Ltd

Detailed Report

Review of Accounting Arrangements & Bank Reconciliations

Our objective here is to ensure that the accounting records are being maintained accurately 
and currently and that no anomalous entries appear in cashbooks or financial ledgers. To that 
end, we have: -
 Checked and ensured that the closing balances have been correctly rolled forward as 

opening balances for 2017-18 in the Omega software;
 Checked to ensure that a comprehensive, meaningful and appropriate nominal ledger 

coding schedule remains in place;
 Checked and agreed transactions in the Council’s main combined Current and 

Reserve account cashbook to the relevant NatWest bank account statements for April 
and September 2017 and January 2018 including the daily “sweep” transfers; 

 Similarly, checked and agreed all transactions in the Council’s supplementary 
NatWest Special Interest-Bearing account cashbook to the relevant bank statements 
for April and September 2017 and January 2018; and

 Checked detail on bank reconciliations for all accounts as at 30th April and 30th 
September 2017 and 31st January 2018 to ensure that no long-standing uncleared 
cheques or other anomalous entries exist.

Conclusions

We are pleased to report that no issues worthy of formal note have been identified in this 
area. We will undertake further work at future visits.

Review of Corporate Governance 

Our objective is to ensure that the Council has robust corporate governance documentation 
and processes in place; that Council and Committee meetings are conducted in accordance 
with the adopted Standing Orders and that, as far as we are able to ascertain, no actions of an 
“ultra vires” nature have been or are being considered for implementation. We have: -
 Examined the minutes of the Full Town Council and its Standing Committee meetings 

(except Planning) for the year to March 2018 to ensure that no issues affecting the 
Council’s financial stability either in the short, medium or long term exist; and

 Again noted that Standing Orders (SOs) were reviewed and approved in January 2015 
and Finance Regulations (FRs) on 25th April 2016 by Full Council.

Conclusions 

We are pleased to report that no issues have been identified in this area warranting further 
comment. We will undertake further work at future visits.

Page 65



4

Leighton Linslade TC: 2017-18 
Interim update

20-3-18 Auditing Solutions Ltd

Review of Expenditure

Our aim here is to ensure that: - 
 Council resources are released in accordance with the Council’s approved procedures 

and budgets;
 Payments are supported by appropriate documentation, either in the form of an 

original trade invoice or other appropriate form of document confirming the payment 
as due and/or an acknowledgement of receipt, where no other form of invoice is 
available;

 An official order has been raised for all purchases and service delivery where one 
would be expected;

 All discounts due on goods and services supplied are identified and appropriate action 
taken to secure the discount;

 The correct expense codes have been applied to invoices when processed; and
 VAT has been appropriately identified and coded to the control account for periodic 

recovery.

We have continued testing in this area, examining all those payments individually in excess 
of £5,000, together with a more random selection of each 60th cashbook transaction 
irrespective of value to January 2018. Our test sample includes 61 payments totalling 
£735,513 and equating to 45% of all non-pay related payments for the year to date.  

We are pleased to note that the submission of the VAT Returns to December 2017 have been 
undertaken in a timely manner utilising HMRC’s “on-line” facility and have we verified the 
details therein to the ledger control account. 

Conclusions 

We are pleased to record that no significant control issues have been identified from our 
testing in this area, with all criteria met. We will undertake further work at future visits.

Assessment and Management of Risk

Our aim here is to ensure that the Council has put in place appropriate arrangements to 
identify all potential areas of risk of both a financial and health and safety nature, whilst also 
ensuring that appropriate arrangements exist to monitor and manage those risks identified in 
order to minimise the opportunity for their coming to fruition. We note that the Council:
 Has adopted an appropriate Corporate Risk Management Policy; and
 Formally reviewed revised financial risk assessments for 2017-18, based on the LCRS 

software, at its February 2017 meeting with further updates / amendments, as 
necessary, to be made during the year and approved by Full Council where 
appropriate in this financial year; and 

 Maintain their insurance with Ecclesiastical and Chubb: We have examined the 
current year’s policies schedule to June 2018, noting that Public and Employer’s 

Page 66



5

Leighton Linslade TC: 2017-18 
Interim update

20-3-18 Auditing Solutions Ltd

Liability both stand at £10 million, with Fidelity Guarantee cover at £3 million for any 
one loss. 

Conclusions

No issues arise in this area warranting formal comment or recommendation.

Budgetary Control and Reserves

We aim in this area of our work to ensure that the Council has appropriate procedures in 
place to determine its future financial requirements leading to the adoption of an approved 
budget and formal determination of the amount of the precept placed on the Unitary 
Authority and that effective arrangements are in place to monitor budgetary performance 
throughout the financial year. We will also confirm that the Council has identified and retains 
appropriate reserve funds to meet future spending plans. 

We note that the Council, at its January 2018 meeting, approved and adopted the precept for 
2018-19 at £2,134,507.

We are also pleased to note that members continue to receive regular budget monitoring 
reports with over/under-spends and the level of earmarked reserves the subject of regular 
review. 

Conclusions

There are no matters requiring formal comment or recommendation in this area of our 
review process. We will undertake further work at our final visit

Review of Income

In considering the Council’s income streams, we aim to ensure that robust systems are in 
place to ensure the identification of all income due to the Council from its various sources, to 
ensure that the income is invoiced (where applicable) in a timely manner and that effective 
procedures are in place to pursue recovery of any outstanding monies due to the Council. We 
have: -
 We have inspected a sample of the limited number of nominal ledger entries posted to 

the Omega control account to ensure their completeness; 
 Also noted that a review of the fees for 2017-18 were undertaken by the Grounds and 

Environmental Committee in September 2016;
 Reviewed the controls and income generated from the Vandyke Road and Old 

Linslade Cemeteries examining a sample of the burial register entries from the records 
for both locations to ensure that they were full and complete, that they were 
appropriately supported by funeral director applications and other legal 
documentation, that the fees and charges levied were correct for each interment. No 
matters arise in this area;

Page 67



6

Leighton Linslade TC: 2017-18 
Interim update

20-3-18 Auditing Solutions Ltd

 As noted elsewhere in this report, we have tested a sample of cashbook receipts from 
Omega records to relevant bank statements for two sample months and have checked 
and agreed all interest arising on periodic Bank Term Deposits; and

 Examined the “Aged debtors schedule” generated by the accounting software and are 
pleased to record that there are no significant long-standing debts exist of which 
officers and members are unaware

Conclusions 

There are no matters requiring formal comment or recommendation in this area of our 
review process at present. We will confirm that the income is reported in the Annual 
Governance and Accountability Return at the time of our final visit.

Review of Petty Cash and Fuel Cards

Our aim in this area is to ensure that appropriate controls are in place; that all expenditure 
incurred is adequately supported by trade invoices or till receipts; that the expenditure is 
appropriate for the Council’s requirements; that VAT has been separately identified for 
periodic recovery and that cheque encashments from the main cashbooks are properly 
recorded.

We have examined payments processed in September 2017 to ensure that: -
 Each transaction is supported by a relevant trade invoice or till receipt; 
 Where relevant, any VAT incurred has been identified for recovery and been coded 

accordingly to the relevant control account; 
 Checked the cash held ensuring agreement to the control record maintained, and
 Checked and agreed the petty cash holding with an Imprest of £250 as at 27th October 

2017 for the White House. 

We have, as part of our “Review of Expenditure”, examined a sample of payments made 
through use of Fuel Cards and noting that fuel card forecourt receipts are checked and are 
attached to the relevant statements. 

We have also, as part of our “Review of Expenditure”, examined a sample of payments made 
through use of the credit cards and noting that receipts are checked and are attached to the 
relevant statements and VAT posted appropriately. 

Conclusions 

There are no matters requiring formal comment or recommendation in this area of our 
review process at present.

Salaries and Wages

In examining the Council’s payroll function, we aim to confirm that extant legislation is 
being appropriately observed as regards adherence to the Employee Rights Act 1998 and the 
requirements of HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) in relation to the deduction and 

Page 68



7

Leighton Linslade TC: 2017-18 
Interim update

20-3-18 Auditing Solutions Ltd

payment over of income tax and NI contributions, together with meeting the requirements of 
the local government pension scheme as further revised from 1st April 2015 with regard to 
financial bandings. To meet these objectives, we have examined the payroll procedures in 
place and the physical payments made to staff in 2017-18 by reference to the September 2017 
payroll documentation taking into account the revised pay scales approved for April 2017. 
The payroll continues to be produced by third party, external bureau providers utilising 
appropriate bespoke payroll software. Our work included: -
 Ensuring that the Council had approved employee pay rates for the financial year and 

that these have been duly and accurately applied; 
 Checking to ensure that appropriate PAYE tax codes are being applied in 2017-18;
 Checking to ensure that national insurance deductions have been computed accurately 

depending on whether the employee was a member of the pension scheme or not;
 Checking that the correct scales of superannuation deductions, based on the revised 

LGPS arrangements, were being applied where appropriate;
 Ensuring that appropriately signed and approved timesheets and mileage claims are 

submitted by all employees in support of any flexible hours worked or claimed as 
overtime or for expenditure re-imbursement;

 Verifying detail of the net salary payments made by comparison with the summary 
reports and payslips to the monthly BACS settlement; and

 Ensuring that payment to third parties of Tax, National Insurance and Pension 
deductions are made in a timely and accurate manner; 

Conclusions 

We are pleased to report that no issues arise from our testing in this area warranting 
formal comment or recommendation.

Investments and Loans

Our objectives here are to ensure that the Council is “investing” surplus funds, be they held 
temporarily or on a longer term basis in appropriate banking and investment institutions, that 
an appropriate investment policy is in place and that the Council is obtaining the best rate of 
return on any such investments made and that interest earned is brought to account correctly 
and appropriately in the accounting records. 
 We have, checked the detail of the interest bearing accounts and agreed all relevant 

maturities, re-investments and interest arising to January 2018 to their third party 
advice notes, bank statements and other appropriate correspondence; and

 We have also checked and agreed the instalment repayments of the existing PWLB 
loans from the cashbook payments to their third party, direct debit advice notes.

Conclusions

No issues have currently arisen in this area to warrant any formal recommendations. We 
will undertake further work at future visits 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 71

Agenda Item 10



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



Policy and Finance Committee Agenda Item No. 11

Date: 16 April 2018 

Title: Annual review of arrangements with local   
authorities

Purpose of the Report: To review, as required in Standing Orders, the 
existing arrangements with local authorities.

Contact Officer: Sarah Sandiford, Head of Democratic and 
Central Services

Corporate Objective/s To consolidate processes and procedures, 
ensuring operational efficiency. 

Implications:
Financial
Human Resources
Operational/Service 
delivery

√

1. RECOMMENDATION

To note the review of existing arrangements with local authorities.  

2. BACKGROUND

a. Following a review of new Model Standing Orders issued by NALC in 2010, 
updated Standing Orders were adopted by Council on 18 April 2011.  

b. The NALC model suggested that a number of items be reviewed by Council at 
each Annual Meeting.  This included a review of arrangements, including any 
charters, with other local authorities and review of contributions made to 
expenditure incurred by other local authorities.    

c. A further review in July 2012 resulted in amendments to the Standing Orders, 
whereby (amongst other changes) a number of items were deemed 
unnecessary for review at the Annual Meeting and should instead be reviewed 
annually by the Policy and Finance Committee as part of its work plan. 

d. In light of this, the following formal arrangements are brought to this Committee 
for its information, in accordance with the annual Work Plan. The outlined 
arrangements have already been endorsed or will be considered by the relevant 
standing Committees at the point of renewal. 

Page 85

Agenda Item 11



 

Page 2 of 2

3. CURRENT STATUS

3.1 The Town Council currently has the following formal arrangements in place with 
other authorities:   

(a) Operation Dodford with Bedfordshire Police

An annual budget of £40,000 is allocated for Community Safety and for a 
number of years the primary mechanism for delivery has been the annual 
Service Level Agreement with Bedfordshire Policy for the provision of additional 
policing activity in the parish. The agreement provides a framework within which 
the Town Council has been able to request additional policing activity in 
particular areas, subject to availability of police officers.  Activity is agreed and 
monitored through the Police Liaison Sub-Committee. 
  
(b) Central Bedfordshire Council (Movies for the More Mature)

An annual agreement has been in place with a six month notice period. A 
contribution of £300 per film towards the costs incurred for each showing, up to 
a maximum of £4,500 annually.  Reduced ticket prices for citizens aged 55 
years and over. 

(c) Leighton Buzzard Music Centre

A new five-year agreement with Central Bedfordshire Council and the Leighton 
Buzzard Music School Trust was approved by the Town Council in January 
2016. The service level agreement will run for the period April 2016 – March 
2021. Funding for the year 2016-2017 was set at £8,000 and this will be 
increased by the September RPI in subsequent years.   Reviewed through 
termly meetings with two appointed Town Council representatives. 

(d) Leighton-Linslade Citizens Advice Bureau

At the Policy and Finance Committee meeting held on 23 November 2015, it 
was agreed to provide funding to the Citizens Advice Bureau for a further five 
financial years (2016-17 to 2020-21).  Funding for the year 2016-2017 was set 
at £15,000 and this would be increased by the September RPI in subsequent 
years. The agreed funding would be reviewed during the five year period, 
should the financial position of the Leighton-Linslade Citizens Advice Bureau 
change during that time. 
At the Policy and Finance Committee meeting held on 16 January 2017, it was 
agreed to increase funding to £20,000 (+ RPI) per year to protect services.  
Reviewed through meetings with two appointed Town Council representatives, 
as well as the provision of an annual report and statement of accounts to the 
Town Council.   

Page 86



 

 1 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

  

 

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 12



 

 2 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

  

Page 88



 

 3 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

 
Contents 
   

1.0 Foreword by the Leader, Councillor Ewan Wallace   

2.0 Preface by the Town Clerk, Mark Saccoccio  

   

3.0 Message from the Town Mayor, Councillor Syed Rahman  

4.0 Introduction  

   

5.0 The Council’s vision, mission statement and values  

 
6.0 

 
Town Council key objectives for 2015-2018 

 
 

7.0 Grounds and Environmental Services   

   

8.0 Cultural and Economic Development Services  

   

9.0 Corporate Governance and Finance Services  

 
10.0 

 
Planning and Transport  
 

 

Appendices   

1 Budget Out-Turn 2017-18                  

2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
 

List of Town Councillors at 31 March 2018 
Councillor Representation to Outside Bodies 2017-18                                                                
Staff Structure at 31 March 2018  
Committee Structure at 31 March 2018 
Corporate Objectives 2015-2018 

                 

   

   

   

   

  

Page 89



 

 4 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

 

1.0  Foreword 
 

The municipal year 2016-2017 has been a busy and exciting one for the 
Town Council. Following a successful bid for match funding from 
Central Bedfordshire Council’s Market Towns Regeneration Fund last 
year, we have seen a huge amount of work, effort, energy and 
collaboration lead to the initiation of some key projects for our town.  
 
Most of you will be aware that following a period of consultation with 
market traders and the public, a Market Relaunch took place last 
September. Recognising that our old market stall structures and covers 
were no longer fit for purpose in a changing market environment, we 
have followed the national trend with a move to using branded market 
gazebos and umbrella stands. Not only are these structures much 
easier to move, erect and dismantle, but they can be used more flexibly 
to display wares in different configurations. As part of the relaunch project, traders have been 
offered specialist retail training to help make best use of the new gazebos, which are provided and 
erected free of charge.  
 
I hope you will agree that the new look of the market enhances our historic town centre and makes 
the market look more attractive and interesting. The Town Council is committed to continuing to 
subsidise the provision of the street market as a key feature of our town and we will continue to 
closely monitor its performance. In addition to ongoing support for our existing traders, we will 
continue to actively seek new and additional traders for our market to enhance its offer and help 
bring shoppers into the town centre.  
 
Beyond the market, a very exciting initiative for me personally has been the launch of our Youth 
Promise grant scheme. As a Town Council, we are keen to ensure the provision of services and 
activities for our young people and we have therefore made available up to £150,000 of grant 
funding. Existing charity, voluntary and community groups may apply for funding of up to £30,000 
for projects and schemes which will allow them to widen their offer and engage more young people. 
The scope of projects could range from specialist training for leaders to the purchase of new 
equipment or for works to be undertaken to buildings or facilities. If you know of any group involved 
with young people aged 11-19, please do encourage them to apply for funding. We very much look 
forward to seeing the results of this scheme and the impact for our young people.  
 
In addition to the Youth Promise scheme, we continue to contribute grant funding to numerous 
voluntary, charity and community organisations in the parish via our Community Grants schemes 
and we value very highly the work they do to improve life in the town for so many.  
 
The Town Council provides these and many other services as efficiently as possible. As a result of 
prudent financial management and ongoing scrutiny, we have been able to ensure no increase to 
our proportion of the council tax for 2018-2019 – the sixth consecutive year of a zero increase to 
the taxpayer.   

   

Councillor Ewan Wallace 

Leader, Leighton-Linslade Town Council 
 

Page 90



 

 5 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

 

2.0  Preface 
 
It is with a deep sense of pride and satisfaction that we are able to 
present the parish with this year’s Annual Report. The report 
presents us with the opportunity to reflect and celebrate the 
achievements that the Town Council has made in the service of this 
great parish over the past 12 months. As a publicly accountable 
body, decision making powers rest with the 21 democratically 
elected members who as unpaid volunteers, give up their time in the 
service of their community. Without their support through the 
various committees they sit on, many of the projects and initiatives 
that we can rightly boast about may not have been delivered in such 
a timely fashion or indeed at all.  
 
As we look forward, one of our objectives for the coming 12 months is to consider ways we can 
better engage with our community. It is disappointing that so few members of the public attended 
the recently held Annual Parish Meeting. The evening which was held at Astral Park provided the 
opportunity for you as parishioners to attend and ask questions of the council on matters 
concerning the way we deliver our services. Next year, we are proposing a town centre venue as 
well as holding the evening in late spring when the days are warmer and lighter. In addition, we are 
looking to embrace technology through a live web cast that will allow the virtual audience to stream 
questions to the council as the meeting progresses.  
 
As a Town Council, we are always striving to make improvements and we welcome your thoughts, 
comments and feedback on what we do. To keep in touch, please do sign up to our bi-monthly 
newsletter as well as Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and the Town Council App. They provide the 
platforms to engage with us as well as receive up to date information. Last but not least, we hope 
that over the coming months, 3 electronic signage boards will be installed within the parish 
providing commuters and pedestrians alike with information regarding matters of local interest.  
 
If you would like to ask any questions or comment on the Annual Report or the Town Council’s 
Three Year Plan and Objectives for 2015-18, please do not hesitate to contact us by one of the 
following means: 

  
By telephone: 01525 631920 
  
By email: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk  
  
In person or by letter: 
  
Mark Saccoccio, Town Clerk  
Leighton-Linslade Town Council 
The White House 
Hockliffe Street 
Leighton Buzzard 
Bedfordshire 
LU7 1HD 

 

Page 91



 

 6 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

3.0 Message from the Town Mayor 
 
After serving as a member of the Town Council for several years, I 
have been honoured this year to serve as Chairman of the Council 
and Town Mayor. Undertaking the role of Mayor is a humbling 
experience and I have been fortunate to meet so many wonderful 
people throughout the year. I would like to pass on grateful thanks 
from everyone at the Council to the many volunteers to give their 
time, effort and energies so tirelessly to help people within our 
community.  
 
In addition to attending many local events and representing the 
town at civic events elsewhere, I have held several events to raise 
funds for this year’s chosen charities: 
 
 
 

Leighton-Linslade Homeless Service 
Aquarius 
Autism Bedfordshire 
Keech Hospice 
St John’s Hospice 
 
I would like to thank everyone who has helped organise and support these events, which have 
ranged from concerts to coffee mornings to bucket collections, not to mention the Spring Fayre at 
Astral Park and the annual Charity Ball in October.  Without the support of those attending, we 
would not have been able to raise the funds we did for this year’s charities. I would also particularly 
like to thank the MK Dons for providing the opportunity to raise funds at a football match in March 
of this year.  
 
Your Town Councillors are now entering the fourth and final year of their current term of office, 
with local elections due to be held in May 2019. Have you ever thought of standing for the Town 
Council? If you live or work within three miles of the parish and meet the criteria, you might like to 
consider standing as a voluntary Town Councillor. The role is unpaid but provides a wonderful 
opportunity to make a real difference to your town.  If you would like to find out more, please do 
contact one of the current Councillors or the Town Clerk.  

 
Councillor Syed Rahman 
Town Mayor 2017-2018 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 92



 

 7 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

4.0 Introduction 
 
Leighton-Linslade is the largest town in the administrative area of Central Bedfordshire Council.  
Historically, Leighton Buzzard has always been within Bedfordshire, with the area of Linslade 
transferring from Buckinghamshire in 1965.  The parish had an estimated population of just under 
40,000 at the last census in 2011 and this continues to grow as further housing development takes 
place to the south and east of the town. 
 
The unemployment rate in Leighton-Linslade is on a par with the rate in Central Bedfordshire and 
lower than the England average. Ideally placed within an hour of London, the town is an ideal 
location for commuters and a significant proportion of those living in the parish work outside it.  
  
The parish contains a number of ancient buildings including All Saints Church and the Market Cross 
monument. Surrounded by quarries, the town is famous for its high quality sand.  The Narrow Gauge 
Railway and the Grand Union Canal remain reminders of the industrial links of the past and the key 
strategic location of the town. Leighton Buzzard has held a market with Charter status since circa 
1086 and this continues to be held every Tuesday and Saturday in the heart of our town, under the 
management of the Town Council. 

 

 
 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council came into existence on 1 April 1974 with the powers of a parish 
council and is responsible for the following areas: 
  
· Parks, play areas, pavilions and open spaces 
· Markets 
· Allotments at Weston Avenue and Alwins Field 
· Cemeteries at Vandyke Road and Old Linslade Road 
· Community events and Christmas illuminations 
· Teenage Advice and Information Centre (TACTIC) 
· Public conveniences (West Street car park and Parson’s Close Recreation Ground) 
· Publications e.g. About Town newsletter, annual What’s On leaflet, Three Year Plan 
· Providing grants to local charitable and voluntary groups 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



 

 8 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

The Council comprises 21 elected Councillors who each serve a four-year term of office.  
There are eight electoral wards in the Parish:  
  
Barnabas  (3 Councillors)    Brooklands  (2 Councillors) 
Grovebury  (4 Councillors)    Leston   (1 Councillor) 
Planets  (2 Councillors)    Plantation  (3 Councillors) 
Southcott  (4 Councillors)    St Georges  (2 Councillors). 
  
A Town Council election was held in May 2015 and a new Council duly elected for a four-year term 
of office.  Town Councillors are not paid any expenses or allowances, apart from the Town Mayor, 
who receives a relatively small allowance, and who attends many events throughout the region to 
represent the town.  The Town Mayor also organises a number of events throughout the year to 
raise funds for charity. 
  
Following a review of the Committee structure during 2015-16, the Council currently has five 
Standing Committees: 
  
Grounds and Environmental Services 
Cultural and Economic Services 
Planning and Transport 
Policy and Finance 
Partnership (with Central Bedfordshire Council) 
  
Council, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings are open to the public, unless there is a special 
reason for exclusion. Up to a total of fifteen minutes is allowed for representations from members 
of the public, who may ask questions or make statements relating to items on the meeting agenda. 
  
The Town Council currently employs a team of 42 staff (25 full-time, 17 part-time) led by the Town 
Clerk, Mark Saccoccio. The Council is entirely funded by the residents of Leighton-Linslade through 
what is known as a precept on the council tax charge, and by generating income through services 
delivered.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 94



 

 9 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

5.0  The Town Council Vision, Mission and Aims 
 

VISION 
  
“A community to be proud of”. 
  
MISSION 
  
To achieve high quality services and promote wellbeing for our community. 
  
AIMS 
  
▪ To consolidate processes and procedures to ensure operational efficiency and a 
structure which will underpin future service delivery by the Town Council. 

 
▪ To promote and develop a vibrant town through partnership working and   
initiatives including management of the street market, provision of town and  
community promotions, town centre enhancements, tourism and practical support 
for local businesses. 

 

▪ To provide great public open spaces, varied opportunities for sport and leisure 
and to exceed expectations in delivering cemetery and allotment services. 

 

 

6.0 Town Council Priorities and Objectives for 2015 – 2018 
 
In the last six months of the municipal year 2014-2015, the Town Council began to develop a corporate 
plan for the next three years, identifying a number of key objectives across all service areas. The Town 
Council’s Three Year Plan was endorsed and published by the end of April 2015 and was revised during 
2016. The updates include an analysis of progress made to date, as well as incorporating a number of 
initiatives contained within the Big Plan II (the Parish Plan adopted in 2011 for the period 2011-2017).  
 
In Appendix 6 you can find details of the Three Year Plan objectives and progress made during the last 
municipal year.  
 
As we enter the final year of the current plan, we will be starting to formulate projects and objectives 
for the next three year period (2018-2021).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



 

 10 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

7.0 Grounds and Environmental Services 
 
The services provided by the Grounds and Environmental Services team are reported to the Grounds 
and Environmental Services Committee, which comprises eight Town Councillors and meets four times 
per year.  The Committee approves and monitors budget expenditure throughout the year. A team of 
fifteen staff members performs these functions, including three based at Astral Park and ten 
Groundsmen who work in the parks, open spaces and cemeteries.  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

£202,665

£95,838

£42,450

£11,447

£7,500£31,135

£480,815

Grounds & Environmental Services: Budgeted Expenditure

Parks & Pavilions Cemeteries Play areas In Bloom Sports Depot Grounds Services

£116,500

£59,000

£1,000 £3,000

Grounds & Environmental Services: Budgeted Income

Parks & Pavilions Cemeteries Sports Allotments

Page 96



 

 11 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

 
A huge amount of work has been undertaken by the Grounds and Environmental Services team 
throughout 2017-2018, with a significant number of new initiatives undertaken alongside the ongoing 
demands of maintaining high quality parks, open spaces, cemeteries and allotment sites.  Outlined 
below are just some of the activities and projects which have been undertaken during the year.  
 
Parks and Open Spaces 
 
In many ways Parson’s Close is our “flagship” park, a destination in itself 
in the heart of our parish. Following on from several years of investment 
and ongoing improvements, we were delighted in 2017 to receive a 
tripadvisor certificate of excellence.  During 2017 we installed electronic 
people counters in the park in order to assess the number of visitors. 
Understanding our visitor numbers and seasonal variations will help us to 
make further improvements to the offer within the park in future. A future 
project will also see us replacing the wooden balustrades of the historic bandstand with bespoke 
metal balustrades.  

 
Mentmore Park junior 
play area underwent 
refurbishment this year 
and was well received. 
In addition, several key 
items of play equipment 
were replaced at the 
Vimy Road play area and 
the Adams Bottom play 
area. The park at Adams 
Bottom was further 
enhanced by the 
addition of a new 
pathway across the park.  

 
At the time of writing, plans are well underway for improvements to the much loved Linslade 
Recreation Ground. In addition to refurbishment of the play area, introduction of new equipment and 
repairs to the boundary wall, it is hoped that we will be able to repair the Henry Finch Memorial 
Fountain and recreate it into a working fountain and a key attraction within the park.  
 
Green Flag awards  

From achieving one award in 2015, the Town Council went on to achieve three prestigious Green Flag 
Awards in 2016.   

Pages Park, Parson’s Close Recreation Ground and Vandyke 
Road Cemetery retained their prestigious Green Flag Awards in 
2017 – the mark of a quality park or green space. A Green Flag 
flying overhead is a sign to the public that the space boasts the 
highest possible standards, is beautifully maintained and has 
excellent facilities. 

Page 97



 

 12 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

 
Cemetery Services 

 
2017 saw the delivery of a project planned for over ten years: the 
construction of a mausoleum in Vandyke Road Cemetery.  The 
project was entirely cost neutral and now provides another option 
in our range of available cemetery services, meeting a clear 
requirement from the community. 
The Town Council is committed to 
ongoing improvements to the 
cemetery service and it remains the 
intention to enhance the offer of 
memorial options.  
 
Following the introduction of new 
benches into Mentmore Memorial 

Gardens last year, the commemoration of the centenary of World War 
1 continued this year with new interpretation signage following the 
same theme.  
 
 
“In Bloom” and Community Participation  
 
Leighton-Linslade was the most successful entrant for the Anglia region into this year’s Royal 
Horticultural Society Britain in Bloom awards, with a total of nine Golds awarded and an overall 

category winner, with Old Linslade Cemetery winning the “best small cemetery” 
award.  With the support of the Town Council grounds staff, the Friends of 
Leighton-Linslade in Bloom have undertaken numerous projects to the benefit of 
the town, including the drought garden in West Street, the beautiful Community 
Garden in Pages Park and many other schemes and initiatives. The group has also 
sought involvement from residents with litter picks, competitions and plant stalls, 
as well as the annual Open Gardens event.  

 
 
Linslade Community Garden 
 
The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom, working with the Town 
Council, applied for and were successful in achieving a grant for 
£10,000 through the Tesco Bags for Help scheme. This followed a 
public vote in local Tesco stores from 26th September 2016 to 9th 
October 2016. Bags of Help sees money raised by customers 
through the 5p bag charge going directly back into the local 
community.  

 
This grant funding will be put towards the creation of a community 
garden within Linslade Recreation Ground,  by the pedestrian 
entrance by St Barnabas Church. 
 
 
 

Page 98



 

 13 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

 
Astral Park 
 
During 2017-2018 Astral Park has 
hosted an array of activities run by 
external providers for the local 
community, as well as being used by 
voluntary and community groups. 
Activities have included play schemes, 
football coaching, holiday sessions, 
baby weighing clinics, baby massage 
and numerous fitness and activity 
sessions for both adults and children. 
Business bookings have included return 
to work training, IT skills and interview skills training sessions, local authority meetings and public 
consultation meetings. The Centre continues to be well used for private functions and has proven to 
be a popular venue for birthday celebrations for all ages.  
 

The Centre is licensed for wedding ceremonies and in February 2018, our 
first wedding fayre took place, with a host of local suppliers on site to offer 
their advice. The event aimed to showcase the flexibility of the venue and 
the new landscaping which has been undertaken this year. More 
information on weddings is available on the new dedicated website: 
www.astralpark.co.uk  
 
The Town Mayor has been delighted to host several fundraising events 
this year at Astral Park, including an Afternoon Tea, a Spring Fayre and a 
Bingo Night.    
 
Building on the success of Astral Park as a hub for junior football, this year 
has seen the introduction of adult football fixtures at weekends. While 
further improvements are needed to ensure adequate drainage on the 
adult pitches, the season has gone well and positive feedback has been 
received from local teams. In recognition of the increased usage, the car 
park was extended in 2017.  

 
A fantastic development for Astral Park this year was the inclusion of the Centre on the bus route for 
the D1 “Dash Direct” bus. Real-time bus information is available at the bus halt and inclusion on this 
route makes the centre – and indeed the park – more available to users 
 
Future projects 
 
Moving forward, the Town Council will continue to aspire to maximise income 
to support the running of the Centre, while ensuring a careful balance with 
community use. In this way the future operating costs of the Centre will be 
sustainable.  Currently the Centre is popular with hirers for private functions 
such as parties, celebrations and weddings.  
 
    
 

Page 99

http://www.astralpark.co.uk/


 

 14 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

 

8.0 Cultural & Economic Services and Partnership 
 
Overview 
 
The services provided within the Cultural and Economic Services and Partnership functions are 
reported to the Cultural and Economic Services Committee, which meets four times per year, and to 
the Partnership Committee, which meets five times per year.  The Committees approve and monitor 
budget expenditure throughout the year. A team of sixteen staff members performs these functions, 
including six at the TACTIC Centre and six involved in the running of the street market. Events 
management is outsourced to a contractor.  
 

 
 

 
 
 

18%

46%

27%

8%
1%

Cultural & Economic Services: Budgeted Expenditure

Market Community Projects Teenage Advice Centre Public Conveniences Partnership Projects

£10,100

£119,600

Budgeted Income

Community Projects Market

Page 100



 

 15 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

 
Street Market   
 
The twice weekly street market, managed by 
the Town Council, has continued to serve the 
town and its visitors during 2017-2018 
despite changing trends in High Street 
shopping and the impact of web based 
buying. Traders offer a broad range of 
products for sale each Tuesday and Saturday, 
boosted by monthly speciality markets such 
as the Farmer’s Market and a monthly 
“Handmade and Crafts” market.  
 
 
 

A number of additional initiatives took place throughout the year, including 
theme market days, additional street entertainment, a visiting French market 
and participation in the International Love Your Local Market Campaign.  British 
Food Fortnight celebrated all things great about British Food. 

 

In 2016-2017, the Town Council was successful in bidding for match funding from Central Bedfordshire 
Council for a number of projects, through the Market Towns Regeneration Fund.  This included a 
Market Relaunch project, intended to help ensure the future viability of the market at a time when 
many markets nationally are re-inventing themselves. Specialist consultants were contracted to 
undertake a thorough assessment of the market, including feedback from traders, customers and town 
centre retailers. In September 2017 a number of changes were introduced, including a move from 
traditional style stalls to the use of branded gazebos, provided to traders at no additional cost. To add 
a distingtive look and feel to the speciality markets, new canopy umbrellas were purchased. 
 
Another part of the relaunch project was the development of 
a specific website for the Market and new branding for market 
communications. This will not only help provide information 
to potential customers but also to potential new traders. We 
continue to actively seek to attract new traders to our market, 
offering competitive pricing and a town centre which 
continues to thrive, bucking the national trend.  
 
The Town Council offers a bursary and support to anyone wishing to give the market a try. If you 
already run a business and would like to try a new approach to sell your product or service, contact us 
about our monthly “pop up” market.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 101



 

 16 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

 
TACTIC (Teenage Advice Centre, Teenage Information Centre) 

 
Leighton-Linslade is the only parish within Central 
Bedfordshire to fund a specialist teenage advice and 
information centre. Staffed by qualified youth support 
workers, it is available to local young people every Monday to 

Friday afternoon and evening. The centre plays host to a number of support and advice services for 
young people whilst also leading on advisory services of its own. One regular feature of the TACTIC 
programme is the Wednesday Work Club, available to 16-21 year olds who need advice and 
information for work or college or training opportunities. TACTIC staff support with:  CV writing -  Job 
Search & Job applications - Exploring your career direction - Interview Techniques - Apprenticeships & 
College applications. 
 
The young people at TACTIC have taken part in 
all sorts of initiatives this year, ranging from 
entering a float in the 2017 Carnival to holding 
a Christmas lunch for senior citizens and a 
shoebox appeal for the homeless in December.  
 
 
The Centre continues to work with other agencies and partners to ensure a joined-up approach and a 
range of services for young people. In 2017, this has included a new offer to local schools, whereby 
TACTIC staff go in to Middle or Upper schools to deliver particular work programmes.  

 
TACTIC is housed in a very old building in Hockliffe Street and 
further to an approach for grant funding made by the Leighton 
Buzzard and District Historical and Archaeological Society, 
research was done this year into exactly how old the building 
is.  In conjunction with the Society, TACTIC held an open day on 
10 February to celebrate its 15th year of operation and to 
demonstrate to the public the findings about the ancient Tudor 
building.  
 
 

With its central location, easily accessible by public 
transport, the TACTIC building has been identified as a 
community asset which could be more widely used, 
when sessions for young people are not taking place. 
With this in mind, a fixed term post was created to 
promote greater use of the Centre during the daytime, 
particularly mornings. This has proven successful with a 
number of local charity and voluntary organisations now 
benefitting from the Centre’s key location and facilities.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



 

 17 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

 
Town and Community Promotions  
 
The Town Council continues to build on its successful and varied programme of community events, 
which prove to be enduringly popular with our local community, as well as attracting visitors from far 
afield.   
 
Linslade Canal Festival, held on the final Saturday of July each year, maintains a good 
reputation, bringing thousands to see the rural crafts and narrow boats located at 
Tiddenfoot Waterside Park. The event requires many months of preparation and 
planning. To assist with this, a five year plan was established during 2015 and this will 
inform the future of the festival.  

 
 
The Big Lunch event on the first Sunday in June was themed for the third year as a Food 
Festival and was again very well received, with an estimated attendance of over 4,500 
people.  In 2017 the Festival coincided with the opening of the summer “Music in the Park” 
programme, which remains as popular as ever.  
 
 

Concerts take place every Sunday afternoon during the 
season.  The evening concert “Proms and Picnic in the Park” 
during August was more popular than ever, with many 
residents bringing the whole family to enjoy an evening 
picnic and some enthusiastic flag-waving. A second evening 
concert on the theme of Town Twinning was a new initiative 
this year.  
 

 
In October, the Living History event took place, 
with a Medieval theme centered around the town’s 
ancient market. The variety of stalls, demonstrators 
and activities on offer proved very popular with 
visitors to the town centre.  
   

 
Children’s Trail   
 
The Children’s Trail celebrated its fifth birthday in 2017 and continues to prove enduringly popular 
with both residents and visitors to the town. This exciting trail of public art in the town centre is 
enchanting for all ages.  Free maps and guides can be collected at the Library or the White House, or 
downloaded from the Town Council website. A video has been developed to help promote the Trail 
and this can be viewed on the Town Council’s YouTube channel.   
 
Movies for the More Mature continues our collaboration with Central Bedfordshire Council’s Leighton 
Library Theatre in supporting affordable access to film screenings for our older residents. This is 
enduringly popular, with membership continually on the increase. A further new initiative during 2017 
was the introduction of Dementia-Friendly screenings 
 
 

Page 103



 

 18 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

 
Partnership Working 
 
Another project which was approved for match 
funding through the Central Bedfordshire Market 
Towns Regeneration Fund was the provision of 
electronic signage boards for promotional and 
information purposes. Despite complications in 
arranging for power and connectivity, it is hoped 
that three signs will be established at key locations 
by the Spring of 2018. The third project to be 
funded by the grant was the introduction of architectural lighting in the town centre, enhancing some 
of our beautiful buildings and helping to make the town centre a more attractive destination after 
dark.  A the time of writing, we are in the final stages of agreeing the lighting scheme.  

 
 
The annual Christmas Festival weekend 
took place at the beginning of December 
2017, organised by the Town Council in 
partnership with LB First, drawing huge 
crowds into the town centre to count 
down to the switching on of the festive 
lights.  The format of the Christmas 
Festival was thoroughly reviewed during 
2017 and the conclusion was reached that 
the Festival be maintained in its three-day 
format into the future.   
 
 

For the second year running the Christmas Lighting Scheme was supported by the Leighton-Linslade 
Rotary Club who funded the High Street Christmas Tree lights. In 2018, the Town Council will be 
reviewing the festive lighting contract and appointing a supplier for the next three year term.  

Best Bar None   

2017-2018 has seen us continue to build on last year’s success with the Best 
Bar None scheme, an initiative already in place in neighbouring towns and 
aimed at improving safety in our licensed premises.  With joint funding from 
Dunstable and Houghton Regis Town Councils and in partnership with 
stakeholders including Bedfordshire Police and Central Bedfordshire Council, 
we are working with licensees to improve safety. At the time of writing, 
premises are undergoing assessment and we look forward to the public taking 
part and voting for their favourite haunts.  

The annual Business Networking event took place on 26 April 2017 with input from partners including 
The Federation of Small Business (FSB), LB Connect and Central Bedfordshire Council.  

 

 

Page 104



 

 19 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

 

9.0  Democratic Services, Central Services and Finance 

Overview 
 
The services provided within the Democratic Services, Central Services and Finance functions are 
reported to the Policy and Finance Committee, which comprises twelve Town Councillors and meets 
seven times per year.  The Committee approves and monitors budget expenditure throughout the 
year. A team of seven staff members performs these functions, headed by the Town Clerk.  
 

 
 
 
Town Mayor 
 
Councillor Syed Rahman was elected Chairman of the Town Council (Town 
Mayor) in May 2017 and was delighted to announce that during his Mayoral 
year he would be supporting five chosen charities: Leighton-Linslade 
Homeless Service, Keech Hospice, St John’s Hospice, Aquarius and Autism 
Bedfordshire.  
 
A number of successful fundraising events have taken place during the year, 
including an afternoon tea, coffee morning, charity ball, two concerts, a 
Spring Fayre and a bingo evening. Additional fund-raising activities have 
included bucket collections, sponsorship and donations.   
 
 
 
 

21%

8%

6%

5%

1%

43%

9%

7%

Policy & Finance Committee: budgeted expenditure

Capital Projects Democratic Representation Grants & Donations

Community Safety Highways Schemes Central Administration

White House Loan Repayments

Page 105



 

 20 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

 
Councillor Rahman will be distributing cheques to his chosen charities at the Town Council’s Annual 
Meeting in May 2018.  

 

In addition to charity fundraising events, the Mayor hosted the annual Civic Service at All Saints Church 
and visited the twin towns of Titisee-Neustadt in Germany and Coulommiers in France.  He also 
attended numerous events of all kinds within the parish, meeting and engaging with residents of all 
ages.   
 
The Mayor is invited to attend numerous events throughout the municipal year, both in the Town and 
outside the Parish.  These include opening events or facilities, marking celebrations, giving talks, 
presenting cheques or awards and representing the town at events being held by neighbouring 
Mayors.  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
Community Awards 
 
The Town Council recognises the many invaluable volunteers who give 
their time and energy to benefit residents of the town.  The Honorary 
Burgess scheme recognises exceptional people who have volunteered 
for the town for at least seven years. The three recipients of the 2018 
Honorary Burgess award were Margaret J Brown, Michael Rowland and 
Danielle Harding, nominated for their many and varied voluntary 
contributions to the town, enhancing the lives of many residents.  
 
If you know someone who is deserving of this prestigious award, please 
visit the Town Council’s website for a nomination form. Nominations are 
accepted between June and October each year.  
 

 
 

Page 106



 

 21 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

 
Community Grants 

 
Many residents will be familiar with the two Community Grant schemes 
run by the Town Council.  Grants of up to £500 per year are available 
for specific projects to benefit residents of the town (“General Grants”), 
while organisations seeking greater funding may apply for a 
“Guaranteed Grant” for a four-year period. A number of organisations 
received funding during 2017-2018 for a whole range of projects 
benefitting residents of all ages within our community.  
 
In addition to these schemes, the Town Council supports the Citizens 
Advice Bureau and the Leighton-Linslade Music Centre, both of which 
benefit residents of all ages.  Tabitha Park, new General Manager at the 
Leighton Buzzard Citizens Advice centre, said “Citizens Advice Leighton 
Linslade gratefully acknowledges LLTC’s generous grant which makes a 
substantial contribution towards the running costs of our advice 

service, serving the people of Leighton Linslade and the surrounding area.  We see over 3,000 clients a 
year and over the past year advised on more than 9000 issues, ranging from benefits and debt to 
consumer and employment.  The majority of the advice is delivered by our 45 adviser team of 
volunteers, supported by a small team of paid staff.  We also offer a specialist debt advice service for 
the most complex or  vulnerable clients”. 
 
Communications 
 
The Town Council continues to work towards improving its 
communications with residents. This year has seen a continual increase in 
the number of people following our social media channels, particularly on 
Facebook and Twitter. These forums can be invaluable for communicating 
information quickly and effectively.  During 2017 we also started to engage 
with the public via Instagram and launched a bespoke App, which can be 
downloaded free of charge.   
For those residents who prefer a paper format, we continue to publish the bi-monthly About Town 
newsletter which is available in print in many local outlets, or online via email sign-up.  
 
During 2017, the Town Council developed and launched two new add-on websites to enhance the 
existing main Town Council website and the TACTIC website: one for the Market and one for Astral 
Park. These websites provide a quick and easy reference point for key information and contact details. 
Looking to the future, the Town Council will be reviewing its main website during 2018 with a view to 
creating a development plan for 2019 and onwards.  
 
Policing 
 
With Bedfordshire Police facing ever increasing challenges, the topic of policing has been an ongoing 
priority during 2017-2018.  The Town Council recognises the concerns of residents and continues to 
set aside a specific budget for community safety and additional policing activity in the town.  Funds 
have been used during 2017-2018 to pay for market day patrols, additional patrols of the town’s parks, 
specific targeted activity as issues arise and to ensure police presence in the town on Friday and 
Saturday evenings. Police activity is monitored through a quarterly meeting of the Police Liaison Sub-
Committee.  

Page 107



 

 22 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

 
 

Following on from the purchase of two re-deployable 
CCTV cameras last year, 2017 saw the Town Council 
investing in new equipment for use by the “Speed 
Watch” volunteers. These dedicated volunteers, many 
of whom are also involved in the neighbourhood 
“Street Watch” scheme, monitor vehicle speeds in the 
parish and highlight areas of concern. One positive 

outcome of this activity was the introduction of a speed monitoring sign on Mentmore Road in late 
2017 – an initiative particularly welcome given the proximity of schools in that area.  
 
Finance 
 
The Town Council continues to operate on a “best value” basis and 
has stringent policies and procedures in place to ensure we 
achieve best value for money in delivering services to the 
community.  Investing in new equipment this year will enable us 
to deliver more efficiently.  
 
During 2017-2018, the Town Council continued to review its five year financial plan.   Councillors and 
officers reviewed a number of proposed future projects and aspirations in order to develop the plan, 
which will prove invaluable for budget setting and identifying town priority projects.  The plan will be 
monitored by committee on an ongoing basis.  
 
Looking to the future, the Town Council aspires to undertake longer term planning to ensure that 
services can continue to be delivered on a sustainable basis in the years to come.  
 
Audit 
 
The Town Council has stringent procedures in place to ensure that 
legislative and best practice requirements are established and 
followed.  This includes the appointment of both an internal auditor 
and an external auditor.  During 2017-2018 the Town Council has 
undertaken a full review of its financial systems of internal control, 
including its Financial Regulations.  A large scale project has also taken 
place to ensure compliance with the new General Data Protection 
Regulation.  

  
Continuous Improvement 

 
The Town Council strives for continuous improvement and to ensure best practice and best value for 
money for the parish.  Following the creation of its Three Year Plan and Objectives, the Town Council 
has completed a number of key initiatives and made significant progress with many others, across a 
range of service areas.  This resulted in a Quality Gold accreditation in 2017.  
 
Not content with that, the Town Council has continued to seek further efficiencies and 
improvements, in particular by way of significant investment into technology.  This investment will 
ensure that services can be run effectively, across several sites.  
 

Page 108

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiR66_bocvZAhVBvBQKHbGYCBwQjRx6BAgAEAY&url=https://www.kingssutton.org/about-kings-sutton/parish-council/community-speed-watch-kings-sutton/&psig=AOvVaw3U6K8bc4uuLsE1mJWWOQNG&ust=1519998470261253
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjbt4GXosvZAhXCesAKHZNcBTkQjRx6BAgAEAY&url=https://career.guru99.com/top-10-internal-audit-interview-questions/&psig=AOvVaw1S3Ogb6lXAstfEGT2pNa08&ust=1519998531025576
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwih28axosvZAhUEesAKHShRBZ8QjRx6BAgAEAY&url=https://prepsmarter.com/blog/top-finance-certifications-for-a-professional/&psig=AOvVaw3c4iiykIOaHWRyReX0Q8tK&ust=1519998645568783


 

 23 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

 
 

10.0  Planning and Transport 

Planning 
 
While decision making responsibility rests with the local planning 
authority, Central Bedfordshire Council, the Town Council is involved in 
local planning applications as a consultee in the planning process.  All 
applications for development or change of land use within the parish are 
sent to the Town Council for review by officers. Depending upon the scale 
and nature of the proposals, a number of applications are then given 
consideration by the Planning and Transport Committee, which meets 
once every three weeks. All meetings are open to the public.  
 
The Planning and Transport Committee carefully reviews applications and in particular will consider 
whether any comments have been submitted by neighbours, whether there are any potential issues 
in terms of the conservation area or maintaining the visual amenity of the street scene, or whether 
there is any loss of car parking which might be detrimental to the area or exacerbate any existing 
parking issues.  
 
During the municipal year 2017-2018, the Committee reviewed a large number of planning 
applications and submitted responses, comments and objections to the planning authority. On 
occasion, representatives of the Committee have attended meetings of the Central Bedfordshire 
Development Management Committee to put forward the Town Council’s views.  
 
Any large scale development is automatically reviewed by Committee and careful consideration is 
given to the many factors involved in such development. The Town Council is acutely aware of an 
infrastructure deficit within the town and the increasing pressures which further residential 
development could bring to the parish. These issues may also apply to development which falls outside 
the parish border but which would inevitably have an impact on the town’s services. The Town Council 
is continually lobbying for improvements to the town’s infrastructure.  
 
Transport 
 
The Planning and Transport Committee also endeavours to liaise closely with the highways authority, 
Central Bedfordshire Council, to monitor programmed activity and road improvements, to make 
suggestions for traffic or parking improvement works and to pass on concerns raised by residents, 
particularly in respect of safety matters. In addition to responding to consultations for parking or traffic 
related proposals, the Committee has lobbied Central Bedfordshire Council for action to be taken in 
relation to commuter parking, traffic speeds, pedestrian safety issues and in particular, safer routes to 
schools for children.  

Page 109

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjxoo-So8vZAhUIOsAKHfM5BRMQjRx6BAgAEAY&url=https://www.thehouseshop.com/property-blog/planning-applications-everything-you-need-to-know/3400/&psig=AOvVaw0YQ6HRWxaCvpYAS6WDzgJP&ust=1519998811098876


 

 24 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

 
During 2016-2017 the Committee applied for and was successful in obtaining some 
funding from the highways authority for measures to include improving pedestrian 
safety on Hockliffe Street and reducing excessive traffic speeds on Mentmore Road, 
Linslade. A vehicle speed monitoring sign was installed on Mentmore Road during 
2017.  

 

 

 

APPENDIX 1     BUDGET OUT-TURN 2017-2018 

 

  Net  Net Variance 

  Expenditure Budget   

     

DIRECT SERVICES TO THE PUBLIC     

     

     

Community Projects     

Grants and Donations     

Tactic Youth Centre     

Parks and Open Spaces     

Astral Park Sport and Community Centre     

Community Services     

Highway Schemes     

Capital Projects     

Use of Reserves     

     

DEMOCRATIC, CIVIC AND CENTRAL 

COSTS                   

     

Central Costs     

The White House     

Democratic Costs     

  Other Costs and Income     

     

     

     

     

Precept     

Precept Support Grant     

     

Transfer to Earmarked Reserves     

     

Page 110

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjHu6Oto8vZAhXSe8AKHXqUBfAQjRx6BAgAEAY&url=http://trafficlogix.com/productsservices/safepace600&psig=AOvVaw12joGuuE0ZWaTSGogYw-oG&ust=1519998901497875


 

 25 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

Net surplus/(deficit)     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
APPENDIX 2     
 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 

 

Councillors 2017-2018 

 

Mayor 

 

Syed Rahman 

 

 

Councillors 

 

Ray Berry 

David Bowater 

Alan Brandham 

Carol Chambers 

Steve Cotter 

Karen Cursons 

Sarah Cursons 

James Davies 

Amanda Dodwell 

Ken Ferguson 

Mark Freeman 

Steve Jones 

Farzana Kharawala 

Tony Morris 

Clive Palmer 

Carole Perham 

David Perham 

Page 111



 

 26 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

Gordon Perham 

Brian Spurr 

Ewan Wallace 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 3  COUNCILLOR APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2017-2018 
 

Organisation 
 

Town Council Representative(s)  
 

Arts Forum Gordon Perham 

Buzzer Bus Mark Freeman 

Carnival Committee Carol Chambers 

Citizens’ Advice Bureau Karen Cursons, Sarah Cursons, Farzana 
Kharawala 

Cruse Bereavement Care Bedfordshire Carol Perham 

Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom Gordon Perham 

Home-Start Central Bedfordshire Ken Ferguson 

LB First Ewan Wallace, Farzana Kharawala 

Leighton Buzzard Narrow Gauge Railway Ray Berry, Amanda Dodwell 

Leighton-Linslade Senior Citizens 
Association 

Farzana Kharawala, Carol Chambers 

Macmillan Cancer Support Ray Berry 

Meadow Way Community Association Amanda Dodwell 

Music Centre Partnership Steve Jones, Gordon Perham 

Music Education Hub Steering Committee Steve Jones 

National Association of Local 
Councils/Bedfordshire Association of 
Town and Parish Councils 

Tony Morris 

Ouzel Valley Park Steering Group Alan Brandham, Tony Morris, Clive 
Palmer 

People, Projects, Partnerships (P3) Clive Palmer 

Rushmere Parishes Group Alan Brandham, Amanda Dodwell, Clive 
Palmer 

Sandpit Project Alan Brandham, Tony Morris 

Sports Council David Perham, Karen Cursons, Alan 
Brandham 

Page 112



 

 27 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

The Greensand Trust Tony Morris 

Town Twinning Forum Clive Palmer, Carol Perham, Gordon 
Perham 

Voluntary & Community Action Carol Perham 

 
 
 
 

 

APPENDIX 4   

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN 

COUNCIL STAFFING 

STRUCTURE 

 

Page 113



 

 28 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018        

Town Clerk

TACTIC

Head of 
Cultural and 

Economic 
Services

Markets

Town & 
Community 
Promotions

Partnership

Astral Park 

Head of Grounds 
and 

Environmental 
Services

Grounds

Cemeteries

Allotments 

Health and 
Safety 

Cleaner

Finance Officer Finance

Head of 
Democratic and 
Central Services

Administration, 
Policy & Central 

Services

Committees

Town Mayor

Page 114



TOWN COUNCIL THREE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2015 – 2018                updated February 2016  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 5 

P
age 115



TOWN COUNCIL THREE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2015 - 2018 

 

 30 

APPENDIX 6 
 

To consolidate processes and procedures, ensuring operational efficiency and a structure which will underpin future 
service delivery by the Town Council.  

 OBJECTIVE REPORT TO RESPONSIBLE DRAFT TIMESCALE COMMENTS 

1 Review options related to the future 
premises to house the Town Council 
and secure accommodation.  

Council Chair of Policy & Finance, 
Town Clerk and 
Corporate Governance 
Manager 

31st March 2017. Negotiations ongoing in respects of 
Town Council accommodation. 

2 Re-accreditation of Quality status 
under new Local Council Award 
Scheme. 

Council Chair of Policy & Finance, 
Town Clerk and 
Corporate Governance 
Manager 

Quality standard to be 
achieved in 2015; Gold 
standard in 2016 

COMPLETED January 2017 

3 Review and update all staff contracts of 
employment. 

Personnel Sub-
Committee 

Chair of Personnel, Town 
Clerk, Corporate 
Governance Manager 

To be completed by 
December 2015 

COMPLETED July 2015 

4 Update Staff Handbook to include all 
staffing related policies within one 
publication. 

Personnel Sub-
Committee 

Chair of Personnel, Town 
Clerk, Corporate 
Governance Manager 

To be completed by 
December 2015 

COMPLETED July 2015 

5 Review potential of achieving Investors 
in People and ISO accreditation 

Personnel Sub-
Committee 

Chair of Personnel, Town 
Clerk, Corporate 
Governance Manager 

April 2017 COMPLETED February 2017. Agreed 
no further action at this time.  

6 Review the procedures, protocols and 
expenses related to the civic position of 
Town Mayor. 

Policy & 
Finance 
Committee 

Chair of Policy & Finance, 
Town Clerk, Corporate 
Governance Manager 

1st April 2016 COMPLETED January 2017.   

7 Develop a business plan in respect of 
income generation through the Astral 
Park Sports and Community Centre. 
Consider the implications for managing 
Mentmore and Pages Park Pavilions.  

Grounds & 
Environmental 
Committee 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service, Senior Centre 
Co-ordinator, Business & 
Projects Officer 

1st April 2016 COMPLETED: Development plan 
approved. 

P
age 116



TOWN COUNCIL THREE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2015 - 2018 

 

 31 

 OBJECTIVE REPORT TO RESPONSIBLE DRAFT TIMESCALE COMMENTS 

8 Investigate and develop online 
payments and bookings for all Council 
services. 

Policy & 
Finance 
Committee 

Chair of Policy & Finance, 
Town Clerk, Head of 
Service, Finance Officer 

1st April 2016 Online payments COMPLETED. 
Online bookings not currently under 
consideration. E-ticketing for events 
and activities under review.    

9 Undertake a full review of the Grounds 
& Environmental Services department 
and implement changes as required. 

Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Town 
Clerk, Head of Service 

By the end of 2015-
2016 

In progress. 

10 Investigate the possibility of providing a 
Town Ranger service. 

Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Town 
Clerk, Head of Service 

1st April 2016 Purchase of equipment approved July 
2015; initial focus on LLTC land and 
buildings. 

11 Develop proposals to secure contract 
work for other organisations in and 
near the town. 

Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Town 
Clerk, Head of Service 

1st April 2016 COMPLETED. Embedded within future 
projects.  

12 Computerisation of cemetery records. Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Town 
Clerk, Head of Service 

To be completed by 
31st May 2017 

In progress.  

13 Develop a ten year maintenance 
programme for all the Council’s 
buildings and assets. 

Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Town 
Clerk, Head of Service 

1st April 2016 COMPLETED.  

14 Expand the reach and service of the 
TACTIC centre by initiating a “hub & 
spoke” model across the town. 

Cultural & 
Economic 

Chair of Cultural & 
Economic, Town Clerk, 
Head of Service 

1st April 2015  
1st April 2016  
1st April 2017 

ACHIEVED and delivery ongoing. 
Schools offer in progress. 

15 Expand and consolidate opportunities 
for two-way dialogue with residents 
and ensure greater community 
engagement in, and awareness of, LLTC 
activity. 

Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Town 
Clerk, Head of Service 

Ongoing To include: greater attendance at 
meetings, Meet the Team events, 
newsletter, website, increased social 
media presence. Statistics indicate 
greater engagement via website, 
social media and revamped 
newsletter.  

P
age 117



TOWN COUNCIL THREE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2015 - 2018 

 

 32 

 OBJECTIVE REPORT TP RESPONSIBLE DRAFT TIMESCALE COMMENTS 

16 To secure new freehold depot premises 
for LLTC vehicles and equipment. 

Council Council, Town Clerk, 
Head of Grounds 

 New lease premises secured 2016. 
Longer term options under review.  

17 Review Big Plan II. Council All services 31st March 2016 COMPLETED. Review report 
presented to Council in January 2016. 

18 Adopt a Sports Development Strategy. Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Town 
Clerk, Head of Service 

31st March 2016 Draft Sport and Physical Activity Plan 
developed and out for consultation.   

To promote and develop a vibrant town through partnership working and initiatives including management of the 
street market, provision of town and community promotions, town centre enhancements, tourism and practical 
support for local businesses.  
19 To continue to work with Central 

Bedfordshire Council in respect of the 
town centre, its management and its 
future development. 

Partnership Chair of Partnership, 
Town Clerk, Head of 
Service, Town Centre & 
Markets Officer, 
Partnership Officer 

Ongoing Implementation of projects funded by 
the CBC Market Towns Regeneration 
Fund underway. Implementing mews 
and alleyway signage projects. 
Continuation of promotion of land 
south of the High Street development.   

20 Secure a three year Christmas lighting 
contract. 

Partnership Chair of Partnership, 
Town Clerk, Head of 
Service 

1st May 2015. COMPLETED. Contract awarded July 
2015. New three year contract to be 
awarded in 2018.  

21 Develop a three year plan to guide the 
delivery of the jointly presented 
Christmas Festival. 

Partnership, 
Events Sub-
Committee 

Head of Service, Town & 
Community Promotions 
Manager, Town Centre & 
Markets Officer 

1st June 2015. COMPLETED. Endorsed by committee 
September 2015.  

22 Investigate Purple Flag status for 
Leighton Buzzard town centre. 

Partnership Chair of Partnership, 
Town Clerk, Head of 
Service, Town Centre & 
Markets Officer, 
Partnership Officer 

1st April 2017. COMPLETED. Findings presented to 
Committee in February 2017. Decision 
taken by Committee to defer further 
consideration until Spring 2018.  

P
age 118



TOWN COUNCIL THREE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2015 - 2018 

 

 33 

 OBJECTIVE REPORT TO RESPONSIBLE DRAFT TIMESCALE COMMENTS 

23 Review and update the Market 
Development and Business Plan. 

Market Sub-
Committee 

Chairs of Market Sub and 
Policy & Finance, Town 
Clerk, Head of Service, 
Markets Officer 

1st April 2015  COMPLETED. Development Plan 
endorsed May 2016.  Monitoring by 
Market Sub Committee. Market 
relaunch added to this plan. 

24 2014 Residents’ survey: progress 
actions as agreed, following resident 
feedback. Themes: communications, 
market, parking, lighting, 
entertainment. 

Cultural & 
Economic 

Chair of Cultural & 
Economic, Town Clerk, 
Heads of Service  

Tbc COMPLETED. Three projects awarded 
match funding through Central 
Bedfordshire Market Towns 
Regeneration Fund.  Proposals for non 
funded projects to be considered 
further by Policy & Finance 
Committee. 

25 Review and update the Tourism 
Strategy / Visitor economy. 
 

Cultural & 
Economic 

Chair of Partnership, 
Town Clerk, Heads of 
Service, Partnership 
Officer, Town & 
Community Promotions 
Manager 

31st March 2016 Ongoing - Recommended to 
Committee to delete this objective 
and use allocated budget funds for 
developing visitor information and 
items which celebrate and explain the 
town’s history.   

To provide great public open spaces, varied opportunities for sport and leisure and to exceed expectations in 
delivering cemetery and allotment services.  
26 As part of the Vandyke Cemetery 

extension, to develop an additional 
complementary range of burial services 
to meet the needs of the community. 

Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service, Cemetery 
Officer 

 Self-funded Mausoleum built within 
permitted development limits.   

27 Implement a range of enhancements to 
the cemetery service. 

Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service 

Tbc Options regarding environment, 
memorials etc under consideration. 

28 Provision of outdoor gym facilities in 
the town (primarily through external 
funding). 

Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service 

To be completed by 
31st May 2017  

COMPLETED in Pages Park 2015 (LLTC 
budget enhanced by S.106 developer 

P
age 119



TOWN COUNCIL THREE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2015 - 2018 

 

 34 

monies, following negotiations with 
CBC). 
 

 OBJECTIVE REPORT TO RESPONSIBLE DRAFT TIMESCALE COMMENTS 

29 Achieve Green Flag status for three 
parks and undertake an annual 
satisfaction survey for Parks & Open 
Spaces. 

Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service 

First in 2015 with at 
least two other sites by 
2017 

ACHIEVED July 2015 for Parson’s Close 
Recreation Ground.  
2016 – also achieved for Pages Park 
and Vandyke Road Cemetery.  
 

30 Refurbish toilets in Parson’s Close 
Recreation Ground. 

Grounds & 
Environmental.  

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service 

By summer 2016 COMPLETED May 2016.  

31 Development of Friends groups for 
various parks, cemeteries and open 
spaces. 

Grounds & 
Environmental. 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service 

1st April 2017  First target site: Parson’s Close 
Recreation Ground. No groups yet 
created despite promotions. 

32 Develop and implement individual Park 
Management Plans, to include 
outcomes of Access Assessments on all 
parks and open spaces. 

Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service 

First three plans by end 
of 2015-16; all plans in 
place by April 2017 

COMPLETED. 

33 Support the “In Bloom” committee in 
the creation and implementation of a 
three year improvement programme. 

Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service 

By end of 2015 COMPLETED and endorsed by 
committee in December 2015.  

To continue to progress projects arising from Big Plan II (the adopted parish plan for 2011-2017) 
34 Celebrate the heritage of the Parish 

through information, interactive 
exhibits or educational resources. 
Consider a Town Trail or continuing 
celebration of the town’s connections 
with The Borrowers. 
 

Cultural & 
Economic 

Chair of Cultural & 
Economic, Head of 
Service,  

 Historic legacy project proposals 
presented to Committee during 2016 
and deferred for future consideration.  

P
age 120



TOWN COUNCIL THREE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2015 - 2018 

 

 35 

 OBJECTIVE REPORT TO RESPONSIBLE DRAFT TIMESCALE COMMENTS 

35 Establish the town as a sports town 
with a fit and healthy population, that 
can use locally available high quality 
sport and physical activity 
opportunities. 

Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Grounds 

Ongoing The emerging Sports and Physical 
Activities Development Plan will drive 
forward sporting provision and 
wellbeing themed activities within the 
town.  
Junior Parkrun now established.  

36 Securing external funding where 
possible, to develop existing and new 
sporting & leisure facilities. 

Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Grounds 

Ongoing Also sits in Cultural & Economic 
Services Committee in respect of 
community facilities. 

37 Provision of additional adult and junior 
football pitches as Astral Park. 

Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Grounds 

 COMPLETED.   

38 Support Linslade Tennis Club with its 
planned expansion at Mentmore Park. 

Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Grounds 

Dependant upon 
Tennis Club  

Planning permission granted in 
January 2018. The Club is now looking 
at potential funding streams.   

39 Continue to build on the success of the 
Anglia in Bloom competition by 
encouraging community involvement, 
developing more links with local 
businesses and encouraging more 
involvement from local schools. 

Grounds & 
Environmental 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Grounds 

Ongoing Ongoing through the agreed 
development plan for In Bloom, 
delivered by the volunteer steering 
group with support from the Grounds 
and Environmental Services team. 

40 Continue to improve walking routes to 
the town centre, railway station and 
local schools. 

Council and 
committees 

All committees and 
service areas 

Ongoing This remains an ongoing project for 
both councils.  

 

 

 

 

P
age 121



 

 36 4 

 

 

 
Page 122



Policy and Finance Committee Agenda Item No. 13

Date: 16 April 2018 

Title: Review of Finance Arrangements and System 
of Internal Control

Purpose of the Report: To advise the Committee on the above and seek 
endorsement of recommendations in respect of 
Finance and Internal Control.

Contact Officer: Sarah Sandiford, Head of Democratic and 
Central Services

Corporate Objective/s To consolidate processes and procedures, 
ensuring operational efficiency. 

Implications:
Financial
Human Resources
Operational/Service 
delivery

√

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 To note the report.

1.2 To endorse the draft document “Statement of Risk Management and 
Internal Control” as a replacement for the existing document “Financial 
Internal Control” (attached as Appendix B). 

1.3 To endorse and recommend to Council approval of the proposed minor 
amendments to Town Council Financial Regulations as outlined in point 
4 and attached as Appendix C.

1.4 To renew the existing resolution approving the continued use of Variable 
Direct Debits, Standing Orders, BACS and CHAPS payments, as required 
by Financial Regulations 6.7 and 6.8.

1.5 To renew the existing resolution delegating authority to the Town Clerk 
to vire unspent and available amounts to other budget headings or to an 
earmarked reserve, as per Financial Regulation 4.1.

1.6 To appoint a named Councillor (other than the Chairman or a cheque 
signatory) to verify bank reconciliations on a quarterly basis as required 
in Financial Regulation 2.2. 

Page 123

Agenda Item 13



 

Page 2 of 4

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 As part of the regular review of internal processes and procedures, and as a 
result of queries raised by elected Members, it was decided in November 2017 
to undertake a full review of Town Council financial regulations and processes.

2.2 The first part of this review included a line by line appraisal of the Town Council 
Financial Regulations as adopted by Council on 26 January 2015 (with some 
minor amendments approved by Council on 25 April 2016). 

2.3 Secondly, a review took place of key guidance documents, including the NALC 
Model Financial Regulations, the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 
and the Governance and Accountability for Smaller Authorities in England 
(March 2017). 

2.4 Following review of the documentation, an action list of twelve points was 
identified, including the need to review and update the Council’s “Financial 
Internal Control” document (last reviewed June 2011). 

3. UPDATE

3.1 At the time of writing, five of the twelve identified actions have been completed, 
including an update of the Five Year Financial Plan (approved by Council on 30 
January 2018) and amendments to internal protocols.

3.2 Two actions are currently in progress: the publication on the website of all 
contracts over the value of £5,000 (as required by the Transparency Code) and 
the updating of internal financial procedures. 

3.3 Three actions require Committee resolution and these are in respect of use of 
variable direct debits, virements between budgets and appointment of a 
councillor, other than the Chairman or any cheque signatory, to verify bank 
reconciliations on a quarterly basis. The Committee is asked to consider the 
recommendations outlined at 1.4, 1.5 and 1.6.

3.4 One action relates to the completion of risk assessments for all new Council 
activities and as such this remains an ongoing responsibility for Heads of 
Service.

3.5 The final action identified during the review was the need to review and update 
the Town Council’s system of internal control. Financial Regulation 1.6 states 
that “at least once a year, prior to approving the Annual Governance Statement, 
the council must review the effectiveness of its system of internal control, which 
shall be in accordance with proper practices”.

3.6 In considering best practice from other Councils and the advice of the internal 
auditor, officers have considered that the existing document (see Appendix A), 
which focusses primarily on financial controls, should be extended to 
incorporate other areas of risk management. Whilst these controls exist and are 

Page 124



 

Page 3 of 4

reported regularly to the Policy and Finance Committee, to date there is not a 
document which brings all the elements of internal control and risk management 
together in one place. 

3.7 A statement of Risk Management and Internal Control has therefore been 
developed (see Appendix B) which gives a broader overview of the control and 
monitoring mechanisms in place at the Town Council. The Committee is asked 
to consider this document as a replacement for the current Financial Internal 
Control document.

4. FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

4.1 In reviewing Financial Regulations, the following amendments are proposed for 
consideration by Committee:

4.2 FR 3.1 refers to a three year forecast of revenue, capital receipts and payments. 
The Town Council currently forecasts a Five Year Financial Plan. The 
timescales referred to in 3.1 should be amended to reflect current practice. 

4.3 FR 6 refers to the signature of orders for payment at a council or committee 
meeting. It is recommended that this be amended to reflect the current 
operational practice, whereby delegated authority is given to the Town Clerk to 
approve expenditure in line with procedures, after which expenditure is reported 
retrospectively to Committee. 

4.4 FR 6.10 refers to the use of passwords or PIN numbers to access a computer 
and suggests that a copy be retained in a sealed envelope by the Chairman of 
the Council. The operational reality is that systems are accessed via specific 
software on more than one computer and that each user has their own 
individual log-in details. 

4.5 FR 6.16 refers to the procedure for changes to account details to suppliers and 
does not reflect operating practice.

4.6 FR 11 refers to procedures in respect of contracts and procurement. It is 
proposed that these be amended to include use of buying consortia where 
appropriate. Such organisations benefit from economies of scale by placing 
bulk orders and also comply with all necessary legislation. Buying in this 
manner may ensure better value for money and a simplified procurement 
process. 

4.7 FR 17.2 refers to risk assessments being done prior to taking on new activity. 
In practice, any committee report will cover the required information regarding 
any new activity and the Risk Register will later be updated to reflect this. 

4.8 The attached Appendix C provides the existing wording of the above Financial 
Regulations and the proposed amendments for consideration by the 
Committee. 

Page 125



 

Page 4 of 4

5. CONCLUSIONS 

5.1 The conclusion of the review process is that, subject to committee consideration 
of the recommendations outlined in point 1, adequate systems of internal 
control are in place to manage all aspects of financial management as well as 
other potential sources of risk. 

5.2 This conclusion is borne out by the internal and external auditor reports which 
have not identified any areas for concern or improvement. 

End. 

Page 126



  Item no 13 Appdx A

FINANCIAL INTERNAL CONTROL

In accordance with Financial Regulation Order No. 1.4, an annual review of 
Internal Control is required.  

1 The Council’s system of internal control shall cover:

(a)  Appointment of Proper Officers and the Responsible Finance 
Officer.

(b)  Proper book-keeping and financial reporting arrangements.

(c)  Financial regulations including Standing Orders and payment 
controls.

(d) Risk management arrangements.

(e) Budgetary controls.

(f) Income controls.

(g) Petty cash controls.

(h)  Payroll controls.

(i)   Capital controls covering asset management, investments and 
borrowing.

(j)   Bank reconciliation.

(l)  Other areas identified from time to time in risk assessments.

2 In order to promote efficiency, economy and effectiveness, the Council 
may establish committees for Finance and/or Audit and/or Scrutiny 
under terms of reference specifying the objectives of the Committee, its 
membership, limitation of scope and functions of the Council which are 
to be delegated.

3 The accounting records determined by the RFO shall be sufficient to 
show the Council’s transactions and to enable the RFO to ensure that 
any income and expenditure account, statement of balances or record 
of receipts and payments (and additional information to be provided or 
management information requested by the Council from time to time, 
as the case may be) comply with the Accounts and Audit regulations. 
The accounting records determined by the RFO shall in particular 
contain:

Page 127



[Type here]

(a)  Entries from day-to-day of all sums of money received and 
expended by the Council and the matters to which the income 
and expenditure or receipts and payments account relate.

(b) A record of the assets and liabilities of the Council.

(c)   Wherever relevant, a record of the Council’s income and 
expenditure in relation to claims made, or to be made, for any 
contribution, grant or subsidy.

4 The accounting control systems determined by the RFO shall include:

(a)  Procedures to ensure that the financial transactions of the 
Council are recorded as soon as reasonably practicable, and as 
accurately and reasonably as possible, to enable the prevention 
and detection of inaccuracies and fraud and the ability to 
reconstruct any lost records

(b)  Identification of the duties of officers dealing with financial 
transactions and division of responsibilities of those officers in 
relation to significant transactions.

(c)  Procedures to ensure that uncollectible amounts, including any 
bad debts are not submitted to the Council for approval to be 
written off, except with the approval of the RFO, and that the 
approvals are shown in the accounting records.

(d)  Measures to ensure that risk is properly managed.

June 2011

Page 128



Item no 13 Appx B

1
D:\Moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\9\6\AI00000694\$us3m3irw.docx

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL STATEMENT

RESPONSIBILITY

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require Councils to have a sound system 
of internal control which:

a) Facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and the achievement of its aims 
and objectives

b) Ensures that the financial and operational management of the authority is 
effective and

c) Includes effective arrangements for the management of risk. 

Councils are also required to undertake an effective internal audit, to evaluate the 
effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking into 
account public sector internal auditing standards or guidance. 

Each financial year, an authority must conduct a review of the effectiveness of its 
system of internal control, prior to completion of the annual governance statement.

This requirement is reflected in the Town Council’s Financial Regulations at 1.6.

PURPOSE OF STATEMENT

The purpose of the Risk Management and Internal Control Statement is to evidence 
that risks are being managed to a reasonable level. It cannot provide an absolute 
assurance of effectiveness but through its ongoing review, will identify and prioritise 
potential risks and the measures required to minimise these. Risks may be strategic, 
operational, financial or in respect of compliance.

The Town Council’s policy on risk management is as follows:

Leighton-Linslade Town Council recognises that it has a responsibility to 
manage risks effectively in order to protect its employees, assets, liabilities and 
community against potential losses, to minimise uncertainty in achieving its 
aims and to maximise opportunities to achieve its vision and objectives. 

The Risk Management and Internal Control Statement will be reviewed annually by 
the Town Council’s Policy and Finance Committee. 

ROLES

Risk management is embedded in the day to day culture and operation of the Town 
Council and as such, responsibility rests with all those who have a key role within the 
Council. The primary role of elected Members is in setting both budget and policy, 
such that day to day operational decisions may be made by the Town Clerk and his 
staff. 

Page 129



COUNCIL – to ensure compliance with Town Council policies and legislative 
responsibilities and to set the annual budget.

COMMITTEES (all Committees, with an overarching responsibility sitting with the 
Policy and Finance Committee) – to set policy, to scrutinise and approve proposed 
expenditure beyond delegated limits, to monitor budgets, to assess risks and to make 
decisions accordingly.

BANK SIGNATORIES – to review proposed expenditure.

TOWN CLERK AND RESPONSIBLE FINANCIAL OFFICER – to provide advice to 
Council/Committees on matters of compliance, to oversee budgetary planning and 
control, to ensure compliance with policies and legislative requirements, to authorise 
expenditure in accordance with Financial Regulations.

HEADS OF SERVICE AND BUDGET HOLDERS – to ensure best value, to authorise 
expenditure within agreed budget lines and parameters, to ensure policies and 
procedures are followed. 

ALL EMPLOYEES – to comply with Council-wide policies including health and safety, 
data protection, financial regulations and standing orders. 

INTERNAL CONTROL

Internal control is the range of policies, procedures and other arrangements designed 
to safeguard the assets of the Town Council and to reduce the potential for losses 
through fraud or error. 

As a Parish Council, the Town Council has no constitution as such but its two key 
governing documents are its Standing Orders and Financial Regulations. These 
documents are primarily based on the model issued by the National Association of 
Local Councils and are reviewed annually.

A suite of other policies and procedures cover operational matters in terms of staffing, 
budgetary control, expenditure approvals, health and safety, data protection and risk 
management. 

FINANCIAL CONTROL

A significant number of policies and procedures govern the financial arrangements of 
the Town Council, as set out in the Financial Regulations. Policies are reviewed and 
endorsed by Council and implemented by Officers. 

In setting the annual revenue budget, standing Committees and Full Council have a 
responsibility to review, evaluate and approve budget recommendations. In approving 
the final budget, authorisation is given for expenditure according to the constraints and 
procedures set out in Financial Regulations. 

Page 130



As a larger Town Council, it is essential that authority be delegated to a number of 
functions in order to ensure operational effectiveness on a day to day basis. The 
attached diagrams provide an overview of the different roles and responsibilities of all 
involved, from Full Council to Committee to cheque signatories and to a number of 
officers. 

The Town Clerk is also appointed Responsible Financial Officer and is supported in 
this role by the Finance Officer and Finance Assistant.

By way of ongoing scrutiny, each standing Committee will receive a quarterly budget 
monitoring report throughout the year. The Policy and Finance Committee receives 
reports outlining all expenditure on a monthly basis as well as quarterly budget 
monitoring reports for all budget lines. The purpose of monitoring reports is not to 
question expenditure which has already been incurred but to provide assurance.  

Budget management for capital projects is undertaken through the development of a 
five year financial plan. The plan is subject to ongoing review through standing 
Committees and Council.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Town Council uses a bespoke system (LCRS: Local Council Risk System) to 
assess risks across all Council services. The system is pre-loaded with more than 390 
risks and 1100 controls across a spectrum of services areas, for local councils to select 
those which apply to them and assess the potential risk for each element.  The Town 
Clerk and Heads of Service review the Risk Register line by line each municipal year 
and identify areas of potential risk for which actions must be taken. The resulting Action 
Plan is brought to Committee and Council each year for approval. 

A report is provided to the Policy and Finance Committee half-way through the year to 
provide a progress update on the Risk Register Action Plan. 

In addition to the full annual review, the Risk Register will be updated throughout the 
year as appropriate, as a result of new services, assets or functions. 

Risk management for ad-hoc or short term projects and activities (e.g. community 
events) is undertaken by way of risk assessments. Hirers of Town Council facilities 
are required to provide risk assessments and insurance documentation. All risk 
assessments are signed off by the Head of Grounds and Environmental Services. 

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Town Council appoints an Internal Auditor and receives two reports each year, an 
interim report and an end of year report. The Internal Auditor has access to all 
documentation and undertakes some work remotely and some from within the office. 

Page 131



The internal audit report will always include an assessment on accounting 
arrangements, bank reconciliations, corporate governance, expenditure, risk 
assessment/management, budgetary control, investments and reserves and review of 
income, petty cash and salaries. 

A five-year plan is developed for the internal auditor to focus on specific areas of the 
Town Council’s operations. 

The Internal Auditor is independent and fulfils no other role within the Town Council. 

Any recommendations made in the internal audit reports will be brought to the attention 
of the Policy and Finance Committee and actions agreed.  

EXTERNAL AUDIT

An external auditor is appointed for the Town Council and submits an annual External 
Auditor’s Report to Council. Any matters raised on the Annual Return statement are 
reviewed by Council with any necessary actions duly minuted for officers to implement. 

BUSINESS CONTINUITY

The Town Council has a Business Continuity Plan for its primary office site. This is 
reviewed and updated on an annual basis. Copies are held by the Town Clerk and the 
Head of Democratic and Central Services.

Employee contact details are held on a cloud based system which can be accessed 
remotely by Heads of Service.

Town Council data is held partly on site and partly in the cloud. Robust back-up 
procedures are in place for both and these procedures are reviewed on a regular basis. 

SECURITY

The Town Council has a range of security measures in place to protect its physical 
assets including buildings and equipment.

Security of data is also protected by a range of policies including IT Security, Privacy 
Policy, Data Protection Policy. 

Cyber security is reviewed annually with providers of IT or software management 
services. 

Page 132



ASSETS

The Town Council maintains an Asset Register which is updated on an ongoing basis 
and is reviewed by the Policy and Finance Committee once per year.

A planned maintenance programme has been developed for assets including play 
areas and pavilion buildings. This is kept under review by the Grounds and 
Environmental Services Committee. 

INSURANCE

The Town Council reviews its insurance arrangements every three years to ensure 
best value and best protection. Insurance policies cover physical assets but also public 
liability, employee liability and a fidelity guarantee (indemnity to an 
organisation against any monetary loss sustained as a result of an act of fraud or 
dishonesty committed by their employees). 

EMPLOYEES

The Town Council has in place a suite of policies and procedures relating to 
employees, including an Employee Handbook, Sickness Absence procedure, 
Prevention of Bullying and Harassment procedure, Grievance management, 
Performance management, Appraisal procedure, Disciplinary procedure and Whistle 
Blowing procedure.

The Town Council retains the services of a qualified Human Resources provider to 
safeguard against issues arising from disputes with employees.

The Town Council operates a policy of encouraging ongoing training and personal 
development in order to meet targets, maximise effectiveness and to build ongoing job 
satisfaction. Training in Health and Safety and Data Protection is mandatory to ensure 
compliance with policies.

A wide range of operational procedures are developed in order to safeguard against 
loss of knowledge following the departure of key employees. 

COUNCILLORS

The Town Council operates a policy of encouraging ongoing training for Councillors in 
order to increase understanding and awareness, improve effectiveness, ensure 
compliance with legislative requirements and to increase role satisfaction.

The Town Council has in place a suite of policies and procedures to guide and 
safeguard Councillors including the Code of Conduct, Declaration of Interests, 
Dispensations Procedure, Gifts and Hospitality, Councillor/Officer protocol and Press 
protocol.  In addition to the requirement to submit a Register of Interests, the 

Page 133



declaration of interests is an agenda item for every Town Council meeting and is 
included in the minutes as a matter of public record. 

Approved by Policy and Finance Committee on XXXXXX

Review period: annual

Page 134



FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT: ROLES OF COUNCILLORS

The Council as a corporate body is responsible for controlling expenditure 
through the setting of the annual budget and ensuring that an adequate 

system of internal control is in place.

COUNCIL

TO SET THE ANNUAL BUDGET, DETERMINE THE PRECEPT

 APPROVE YEAR END ACCOUNTS, WRITE OFF BAD DEBTS

 AUTHORISE THE PURCHASE OR DISPOSAL OF LAND

 AUTHORISE CAPITAL EXPENDITURE, APPROVE TAKING OUT A LOAN. 

POLICY AND FINANCE COMMITTEE

FIRST AND LAST COMMITTEE TO REVIEW DRAFT BUDGET FOR FOLLOWING YEAR: 
RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL IN TERMS OF BUDGET AND PRECEPT

OVERSIGHT OF ALL BUDGET EXPENDITURE (QUARTERLY MONITORING)

APPROVAL OF EXPENDITURE OVER £5,000 FROM COMMITTEE REVENUE BUDGET OR 
EARMARKED RESERVES

TO RECEIVE AND CONSIDER INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REPORTS

STANDING COMMITTEES

TO REVIEW DRAFT COMMITTEE BUDGET FOR FOLLOWING YEAR AND MAKE A 
RECOMMENDATION TO POLICY & FINANCE COMMITTEE

QUARTERLY BUDGET MONITORING OF COMMITTEE BUDGETS

APPROVAL OF EXPENDITURE OVER £5,000 FROM COMMITTEE REVENUE BUDGETS OR 
EARMARKED RESERVES

SUB-COMMITTEES

TO MAKE RECOMMENDATIONS TO PARENT COMMITTEE FOR EXPENDITURE, EXCEPT WHERE 
SPECIFIC DELEGATED AUTHORITY HAS BEEN GIVEN (GRANTS, POLICE LIAISON)

CHEQUE SIGNATORIES (INDIVIDUAL COUNCILLORS)

TO SCRUTINISE PROPOSED SCHEDULES OF PAYMENTS, QUESTION WHERE APPROPRIATE, 
CHECK RELEVANT PAPERWORK IS CORRECT & PROCEDURES FOLLOWED, TO SIGN OFF CHEQUE 

OR BACS PAYMENT IF SATISFIED THAT ALL IS IN ORDER. 

Page 135



FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT: ROLES OF OFFICERS

It is the responsibility of all officers to seek best value for the product or service, 
through obtaining comparative quotes or through a tender process

TOWN CLERK & RFO

TO OVERSEE DEVELOPMENT OF THE ANNUAL BUDGET

TO ENSURE THE COUNCIL HAS A FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN

TO AUTHORISE EXPENDITURE OF UNDER £5,000 FROM APPROVED REVENUE BUDGETS OR 
EARMARKED RESERVES (OR UNDER £2,500 OUTSIDE APPROVED BUDGETS)

TO AUTHORISE USE OF TOWN COUNCIL CREDIT CARD AS PER PROCEDURE

TO AUTHORISE SALARY PAYMENTS AND AMENDMENTS

BUDGET HOLDERS – HAVE DELEGATED AUTHORITY FROM THE TOWN CLERK & RFO

TO APPROVE EXPENDITURE OF UNDER £5,000 FROM SERVICE AREA REVENUE BUDGET OR 
EARMARKED RESERVES

TO MONITOR BUDGET EXPENDITURE THROUGHOUT THE YEAR

TO APPROVE PAYMENT OF INVOICES FROM SERVICE BUDGET EACH MONTH

TO ASSIST IN DEVELOPING THE ANNUAL DRAFT BUDGET

ACCOUNTANT

SCRUTINY OF MONTH END AND YEAR END PROCESSES

DEVELOPMENT AND REGULAR REVIEW OF FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN

PROFIT AND LOSS MONITORING FOR TOWN COUNCIL SERVICES

RECONCILE MONTHY PAYROLL 

FINANCE OFFICER

TO PREPARE A DETAILED ANNUAL BUDGET AND PRECEPT RECOMMENDATION FOR 
SUBMISSION TO COMMITTEE

TO PREPARE AND SUBMIT ANNUAL PENSION RETURN

RECONCILIATION OF CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS AS PER PROCEDURE

TO MANAGE PAYROLL AND THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME

TO OVERSEE MONTH END AND YEAR END PROCESSES

Page 136



FINANCE OFFICER (CONT’D)

TO VIRE PAYMENTS BETWEEN BUDGETS UPON AUTHORISATION OF CLERK OR COMMITTEE

TO INVESTIGATE AND MAKE RECOMMENDATIONS FOR INVESTMENTS IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH COUNCIL POLICY

OVERSEE YEAR END ACCOUNTS AND COMPLETE ANNUAL RETURN (AND ANY OTHER 
RELEVANT REQUIREMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH LEGISLATION) IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

THE REGULATIONS.

TO PERIODICALLY REVIEW BANK ACCOUNT AND ENSURE BANK MANDATE IS UP TO DATE

TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH FINANCIAL REGULATIONS & OTHER PROCEDURES

TO REVIEW FINANCE RELATED PROCEDURES AND POLICIES AS APPROPRIATE

TO MANAGE THE FINANCE ASSISTANT

FINANCE ASSISTANT

RAISE PURCHASE ORDERS ON RECEIPT OF APPROVED ORDER REQUISITIONS

LOG AND CHECK INCOMING INVOICES; MATCH TO PURCHASE ORDERS

INPUT INCOME AND EXPENDITURE TRANSACTIONS ON FINANCE SYSTEM

PREPARATION OF BANKING TRANSACTIONS 

REIMBURSE PETTY CASH EXPENSES TO STAFF

MONTHLY FILING OF PAPERWORK

 

Page 137



Item no 13 Appx B

10
D:\Moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\9\6\AI00000694\$us3m3irw.docx

FINANCIAL EXPENDITURE PROCESS

ANNUAL REVENUE BUDGET SET AT JANUARY COUNCIL MEETING FOR 
NEXT FINANCIAL YEAR

(FOLLOWING REVIEW BY ALL STANDING COMMITTEES)

EXPENDITURE WITHIN 
AGREED REVENUE 

BUDGETS

EXPENDITURE FOR 
UNFORESEEN 

CIRCUMSTANCES OUTSIDE 
AGREED REVENUE 

BUDGETS

EXPENDITURE IN EXCESS OF 
AGREED REVENUE 

BUDGETS

EXPENDITURE OUTSIDE OF 
REVENUE BUDGET (GENERAL 

RESERVES)

EXPENDITURE FROM 
EARMARKED RESERVES

OFFICERS 
MAY SPEND 

UP TO 
£5,000

GRANTS 
REQUIRE 

COMMITTEE 
APPROVAL

OVER 
£5,000 

REQUIRES 
COMMITTEE 
APPROVAL

AUTHORITY FOR TOWN 
CLERK TO SPEND UP TO 

£2,500

COMMITTEE APPROVAL 
REQUIRED

COMMITTEE APPROVAL 
REQUIRED

COUNCIL APPROVAL REQUIRED FOR CAPITAL EXPENDITURE, APPROVAL OF LOANS OR FOR THE 
PURCHASE OF OR DISPOSAL OF LAND OR PROPERTY

OFFICERS MAY SPEND UP 
TO £5,000 FOR AGREED 

PURPOSE OF EMR

IN EXCESS OF £5,000 
REQUIRES COMMITTEE 

APPROVAL

P
age 138



Policy and Finance Committee 16 April 2018

Item 13, appendix C: Proposed amendments to Town Council Financial 
Regulations

Black type = current wording

Blue type = proposed wording

3.1Each committee (if any) shall review its three year forecast of revenue and capital 
receipts and payments. Having regard to the forecast, it shall thereafter formulate and 
submit proposals for the following financial year to the council not later than the end 
of November each year including any proposals for revising the forecast.

Each November, the Policy and Finance Committee will receive a three year forecast 
of revenue and capital receipts and payments for consideration. Thereafter, each 
standing Committee with budgetary responsibility will review draft budget proposals 
for the following financial year and make recommendations back to Policy and 
Finance, no later than January. At its January meeting, the Policy and Finance 
Committee will consider draft budget proposals and Committee recommendations 
and will consider recommending to Council approval of a draft budget.

6.3 All payments shall be effected by cheque or other instructions to the council's 
bankers, or otherwise, in accordance with a resolution of Council [or duly delegated 
Committee] 

6.4 Cheques or orders for payment drawn on the bank account in accordance with the 
schedule as presented to council or committee shall be signed by two members of 
council and countersigned by the Clerk, in accordance with a resolution instructing 
that payment. A member who is a bank signatory, having a connection by virtue of 
family or business relationships with the beneficiary of a payment, should not, under 
normal circumstances, be a signatory to the payment in question. 

Proposed: merge 6.3 and 6.4 together as 6.3, then add new 6.4 as per below:

Where delegated authority is granted to the Clerk or RFO by Council/Committee to 
authorise expenditure, all payments shall be effected in accordance with a schedule 
signed by both the Clerk/RFO and by two Elected Members who are bank 
signatories. 

Page 139



6.5To indicate agreement of the details shown on the cheque or order for payment with 
the counterfoil and the invoice or similar documentation, the signatories shall each 
also initial the cheque counterfoil.

To indicate agreement of the details shown on the cheque or order for payment with 
the counterfoil and the invoice or similar documentation, the signatories shall each 
also initial the cheque listing and BACS listing.

6.6Cheques or orders for payment shall not normally be presented for signature other 
than at a council or committee meeting (including immediately before or after such a 
meeting). Any signatures obtained away from such meetings shall be reported to the 
council [or duly delegated Committee] at the next convenient meeting. 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council does not meet monthly; nor does any standing 
Committee or Sub-Committee. Therefore, for operational purposes, cheques and 
orders for payment will normally be authorised and signed by the Town Clerk/RFO 
and two Elected Members who are bank signatories. All payments are reported to 
the next convenient meeting of Council or duly delegated Committee. 

6.10 Where a computer requires use of a personal identification number (PIN) or other 
password(s), for access to the council’s records on that computer, a note shall be 
made of the PIN and Passwords and shall be handed to and retained by the 
Chairman of Council in a sealed dated envelope.  This envelope may not be opened 
other than in the presence of two other councillors. After the envelope has been 
opened, in any circumstances, the PIN and/or passwords shall be changed as soon 
as practicable. The fact that the sealed envelope has been opened, in whatever 
circumstances, shall be reported to all members immediately and formally to the next 
available meeting of the council. This will not be required for a member’s personal 
computer used only for remote authorisation of bank payments.

Where a computer system is required to access the council’s financial records, the 
authorised users will undertake to ensure the security of any passwords, in 
accordance with the Town Council’s I.T. Security policy. 

6.16 Changes to account details for suppliers, which are used for internet banking 
may only be changed on written hard copy notification by the supplier and supported 
by hard copy authority for change signed by two of: the Clerk and any other 
authorised signatory. A programme of regular checks of standing data with suppliers 
will be followed.
Changes to account details for suppliers, which are used for internet banking may 
only be changed on written hard copy notification by the supplier and checked by 
telephone by a member of the Finance team. 

Page 140



Proposed addition to Contracts section (11):

11l) Where appropriate, the Town Council may choose to procure goods, materials or 
services through a “buying consortium” or “purchasing organisation”. This may be 
a public sector owned buying organisation such as ESPO. Procurement through 
a framework such as this may offer reduced costs and tendering times, achieving 
best value for money while ensuring compliance with relevant procurement 
legislation. 

17.2  When considering any new activity, the Clerk [with the RFO] shall prepare a draft 
risk assessment including risk management proposals for consideration and 
adoption by the council. 

Any new activity undertaken by the Council will be added to the Risk Register 
upon commencement or during the annual review of the Risk Register. 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



Policy and Finance Committee        Agenda Item No: 14

Date: 16 April 2018

Title: Online payments, bookings and ticketing

Purpose of the Report: To provide the Committee with an update in respect of 
Objective 8 in the Town Council’s Three Year Plan 
(2015-2018). 

Contact Officer:                Sarah Sandiford (Head of Democratic & Central Services) 

Corporate 
Objective/s

8: investigate and develop online payments and bookings for 
all Council services. 

Implications:
Financial X
Human Resources X
Operational/Service 
delivery

√  

Procedural/Legal X
Risk/Health & Safety X

1.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 To note the report.

2.0 BACKGROUND

2.1 At its meeting on 27 April 2015, the Town Council adopted a Three Year Plan 
containing 33 objectives for the period 2015-2018. 

2.2 At a subsequent meeting of the Town Council on 25 January 2016, it was agreed 
to update the Three Year Plan to include a number of residual objectives 
contained within the parish plan, “Big Plan II”.

2.3 Committee work streams since 2015 have therefore had a keen focus on 
achieving the objectives agreed by Council within the Three Year Plan.   

2.4 Objective number 8 within the plan was as follows: to investigate and develop 
online payments and bookings for all Council services. 

Page 143

Agenda Item 14



 

Page 2 of 3

3.0 ONLINE PAYMENTS 

3.1 At its meeting held on 18 September 2017, the Committee received a report with 
various project updates. This included confirmation that the Council was now 
accepting payments by WorldPay.  

3.2 On receipt of a request to pay by this method, details are sent out using an email 
link. Alternatively if the customer is present, payment can be taken there and then 
via the internet or for Astral Park, via a portable terminal (card reader). 

3.3 In the period 1 February 2017 – 31 January 2018, a total of 213 card transactions 
were processed at Astral Park using the portable terminal, plus 8 online 
payments.  In addition, 61 payments were taken at the White House for other 
bookings or services. 

3.4 Costs for use of the WorldPay service include a monthly service fee, a monthly 
rental fee for the portable terminal and a percentage transaction fee. However, 
these costs are offset by savings in officer time and bank charges for processing 
cash and cheques. The number of transactions over the past year clearly 
demonstrates the customer need for this service and allows the Town Council to 
collect payments in a more timely fashion.

3.5 In addition to the WorldPay service, the Town Council has seen a marked 
increase in the number of automated credits direct into the bank (for example, 
from event exhibitors, hall hirers, cemetery customers, allotment holders).  As 
well as representing a saving in officer time in processing cash and cheques, this 
change has also resulted in more payments being received in a timely fashion 
and therefore a reduction in time spent on chasing outstanding payments. 

 
4.0 ONLINE BOOKINGS

4.1 On the opening of Astral Park in 2014, a software package was purchased for 
the processing of bookings. One of the primary factors in the choice of system 
was compatibility with the Council’s financial software and therefore the ease of 
generating invoices and processing hire payments.  

4.2 The bookings software is now used to process all facilities bookings including 
meeting rooms, pavilions and sports pitches. 

4.3 At the time of developing the Three Year Plan and Objectives for 2015-2018, it 
was envisaged that rather than staff having to manually process all bookings, it 
might be feasible to move towards an automated process of booking online via 
the websites. 

4.4 As reported to Committee on 18 September 2017, officers have reviewed 
potential for online bookings. Due to the complexities inherent in the booking of 
both meeting spaces and sports pitches, it was agreed that processing by officers 
was essential, enabling a “sense check” to take place and allowing an amount of 
flexibility in determining the right solution for each booking. This applies equally 
to sports pitches, for example when weather conditions might impact a decision 

Page 144



 

Page 3 of 3

on which pitch to use, or for pavilion bookings, particularly in the case of Astral 
Park with its variations of room configurations.  

4.5 At the present time therefore, there is no intention to progress the potential for 
online bookings any further. 

4.6 Should it be the case, in future, that online bookings appear to be more feasible 
– for example with development of the websites or any potential change in 
software – then this will be re-examined. 

5.0 E-TICKETING

5.1 During the review of online bookings, it was agreed that there was merit in trialling 
e-ticketing on a limited basis, for Mayoral events or other activities.

5.2 An account has now been set up with website Eventbrite to trial e-ticketing for 
the Mayor’s James Goff concert in April 2018.  It is envisaged that we will try this 
again for future Mayoral fundraising events to see whether the convenience 
factor helps ticket sales.

5.3 Although there is no cost to set up, Eventbrite charges a percentage of ticket 
sales. This is usually covered by the event organiser by adding a “booking fee”. 
While this results in a slightly higher cost to the purchaser, they are able to benefit 
from the convenience of booking at any time and of paying by card, rather than 
having to go to a specific place during set times to pay by cash or cheque. 

5.4 E-ticketing for other Council activities such as the holiday activities offered by 
TACTIC and Astral Park is also under consideration.  A number of factors will be 
taken into account including the cost of the activity and likely type of customer. 
E-ticketing will not be appropriate in some cases. 

5.5 Encouraging third parties providing activities on our behalf to offer e-ticketing 
could also be beneficial in some circumstances. Booking direct with the provider 
would avoid the necessity for Town Council staff to process people’s personal 
details or handle monies for those bookings.

5.6 It is envisaged that a further report will be brought back to Committee towards 
the end of the year to provide an update on any e-ticketing trial activity.  

End. 

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 147

Agenda Item 16
Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 1960



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 155

Agenda Item 18
Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 1960



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	5 MINUTES OF SUB COMMITTEE MEETINGS
	180409 Police Liaison draft

	6 COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN
	6(b) Policy & Finance draft work plan 2018-19

	8 FEBRUARY AND MARCH 2018 PAYMENTS
	8. March invoices paid April mk2

	9 INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT (FIRST INTERIM)
	10 BUDGET MONITORING REPORT
	11 ARRANGEMENTS WITH LOCAL AUTHORITIES
	12 TOWN COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018
	13 REVIEW OF FINANCE PROCEDURES AND SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL
	13 Appendix A Internal Control June 2011
	13 Appendix B RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL STATEMENT
	13 appendix C chgs to F Regs

	14 ONLINE PAYMENTS, BOOKINGS AND TICKETING
	16 GENERAL DATA PROTECTION REGULATION
	18 COMMUNITY SAFETY (OPERATION DODFORD AND CCTV)

